
 
 

 
 
 
2 October 2019 
 
 
To: Councillors Clapham, D Coleman, Collett, Farrell, Hugo, Mitchell, Owen, Stansfield and 

Wing  
 

The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 10 October 2019 at 6.00 pm 
in  

Committee Room B, Town Hall, Blackpool 
 

A G E N D A 
 
1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 
 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 

doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned either a 
 
(a)   personal interest 
 
(b)   prejudicial interest  
 
(c)    disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) 
 
and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
 If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 20 JUNE 2019  (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
 To agree the minutes of the last meeting of the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny 

Committee held on 20 June 2019 as a true and correct record. 
 

3  PUBLIC SPEAKING   
 

Public Document Pack



 To consider any applications from members of the public to speak at the meeting. 
 

4  APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBER  (Pages 9 - 12) 
 

 The Committee to consider the appointment of Ms Helen Sage as a diocesan co-opted 
member to the Committee. 

 
5  EXECUTIVE AND CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS  (Pages 13 - 20) 

 
 To consider the Executive and Cabinet Member Decisions within the remit of the 

Committee, taken since the last meeting. 
 

6  FORWARD PLAN  (Pages 21 - 26) 
 

 To consider the content of the Council’s Forward Plan, October 2019 – February 2020, 
within the remit of the Committee. 

 
7  CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE IMPROVEMENT  (Pages 27 - 36) 

 
 To inform the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee on the progress and 

implementation of developments within the “Getting to Good” Journey for Children’s 
Social Care. 

 
8  YOUTH OFFENDING TEAM IMPROVEMENT  (Pages 37 - 40) 

 
 To receive an update in relation to key performance indicators and any risk areas 

identified in relation to the Youth Offending Team improvement plan. 
 

9  SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND EDUCATION RESULTS UPDATE  (Pages 41 - 46) 
 

 To receive an overview of Special Educational Needs and Disability and schools’ results 
data. 

 
10  BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD - FINAL ANNUAL REPORT  (Pages 47 - 

92) 
 

 To receive and consider the annual report of Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board. 
 

11  COMMITTEE WORKPLAN  (Pages 93 - 100) 
 

 To consider the contents of the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee’s 
Work Programme and to receive an update on the Scrutiny review of Inclusion in 
Education. 
 

12  DATE OF NEXT MEETING   
 

 To note the date of the next meeting of the Committee as Thursday 5 December 2019 
at 6pm. 



 
 

Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Elaine Ireland, Senior Democratic Governance 
Adviser, Tel: (01253) 477255 , e-mail: Elaine.Ireland@blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

 
Present:  
 
Councillor Collett (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors 
 
D Coleman 
Critchley 

Farrell 
Mitchell 

Owen 
Stansfield 

Wilshaw 
Wing 

 
In Attendance:  
 
Councillor Kath Benson, Cabinet Member for Schools, Education and Aspiration 
Councillor Graham Cain, Deputy Leader (Children) 
Ms Kate Aldridge, Head of Delivery and Performance 
Mr Robert Arrowsmith, Head of Performance and Systems 
Mr Steve Ashley, Independent Chair for Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board 
Mrs Diane Booth, Director of Children's Services 
Ms Merle Davies, Director, Blackpool Centre for Early Child Development 
Ms Jeanette Richards, Head of Partnerships and Improvements 
Mr Philip Thompson, Head of Safeguarding 
Mr Paul Turner, Head of School Standards, Safeguarding and Inclusion 
Mrs Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 
Mrs Elaine Ireland, Democratic Governance Senior Adviser 
 
1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor Debbie Coleman declared a personal interest in Item 5 ‘Education and Special 
Educational Needs Update’ and Item 7 ‘Better Start Update’, the nature of the interest 
being that she was employed by an early year’s provider. 
 
2  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING OF THE RESILIENT COMMUNITIES AND CHILDREN'S 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 7 FEBRUARY 2019 
 
The Committee agreed that the minutes of the last meeting of the Resilient Communities 
and Children’s Scrutiny Committee held on 7 February 2019 be signed by the Chairman as 
a true and correct record. 
 
3  PUBLIC SPEAKING 
 
The Committee noted that there were no applications to speak by members of the public 
on this occasion. 
 
4  CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE AND YOUTH OFFENDING TEAM INSPECTION UPDATES 
 
Mrs Diane Booth, Director of Children’s Services provided an update on the work of the 
‘Getting to Good’ journey implemented in response to the Ofsted inspection rating of 
Inadequate for Children’s Social Care. It was explained to the Committee that the change 
of name reflected the high aspirations of the Council to exceed the original goal of a Page 1

Agenda Item 2



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

‘Requires Improvement’ rating. 
 
The Committee heard that Children’s Social Care had reached the end of the second 12 
week plan implemented to drive improvement, with Mrs Booth reporting small and 
steadying developments being made. With regards to the recruitment of additional Social 
Care staff, Members were informed that although the department was still experiencing 
challenges in securing quality candidates for permanent positions, there had been 
significant success in the recruitment programme, with 33 permanent new starters 
appointed since January 2019. 
 
It was identified that audit activity and performance information indicated incremental 
improvements and that the Corporate Delivery Unit had brought added value and would 
support with the creation of a strategic six month plan. Mrs Booth confirmed that all 85 
actions from the original improvement plan had been achieved, and that a smaller plan 
was now being actioned. 
 
Mrs Booth informed the Committee that the Independent Commissioner appointed to 
work with Children’s Services had been reviewing services at the Council since the end of 
April 2019. It was clarified that the Commissioner would make an assessment of whether 
the local authority should retain the provision of children’s services and its ability to 
implement improvements as well as the sustainability of such improvements, following 
which she would then submit her findings and recommendations to the Department for 
Education, with a decision expected on 5 July 2019.   
 
The Chairman queried whether the Commissioner could have deemed that progress was 
inadequate during the initial 12 week review period, with Mrs Booth advising that the full 
process must be completed prior to a decision being taken. 
 
Concerns were raised around the robustness and longevity of the improvement plan, with 
reference made to previous improvement journeys which had subsequently lapsed once 
the review period had ceased. Mrs Booth acknowledged that previous strategic plans had 
not been continued sufficiently, resulting in the halting of progress. Members were 
assured that improvements would be ongoing and permanent, with no deviation from the 
strategic plan, even once improvements had been embedded. 
 
Mrs Booth further expanded on the particular challenges faced by Children’s Social Care 
which were specific to Blackpool, identifying that maintaining a strong leadership team in 
the long-term needed to be a priority. Retention of experienced managerial staff was 
raised as a concern, with employees leaving the authority despite being informed of the 
challenges of the role prior to commencement. Mrs Booth felt confident that strong 
strategic and corporate leadership was now in place despite there still being two 
remaining vacancies. 
 
Mr Robert Arrowsmith, Head of Performance and Systems explained to the Committee 
how Blackpool had a disproportionally large number of children placed on care plans as 
well as large numbers of looked after children. In comparison to other comparable coastal 
towns, Mr Arrowsmith explained that due to the behaviour of service providers and 
partners, data demonstrated that cases were escalated and referred to Children’s Social 
Care earlier than was seen in other areas with similar levels of deprivation. The result was Page 2



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

that Blackpool experienced increased numbers of children concentrated at the higher end 
of levels of intervention.  
 
It was further explained that the current position could be traced back to a starting period 
between 10 to 12 years ago, with patterns of behaviours beginning to deviate from the 
usual pattern seen elsewhere. Mr Arrowsmith asserted that although Blackpool was 
different, it was not so singular as to explain the variances seen. He gave the opinion that 
the differences in performance were due to the ways in which services were being 
delivered and the resulting high numbers of children accessing care services. It was 
suggested that services were not addressing issues appropriately, with examples from 
other localities demonstrating a more successful approach. 
 
Members further heard that it would be necessary for ongoing major changes in service 
provision to occur in order to secure improvements. Mr Arrowsmith highlighted that 
schools were not suitably inclusive, reiterating that entire partnerships needed an 
evaluation of their behaviour and a thorough examination of previous actions and a 
resulting culture shift in approach. 
 
Members sought clarification on the fact that it was not necessarily Blackpool families 
that caused the extremely high numbers of children accessing care services, but rather 
the way in which services responded to their needs. Mr Arrowsmith confirmed this to be 
the case, highlighting that the rates of children being looked after and those accessing 
care services were disproportionally high, and the initial challenge would be to get 
Blackpool performing closer to other parts of the country. 
 
Mrs Booth reiterated that all services were linked and that it was imperative that children 
and young people were at the centre of all strategic decisions and actions. Members 
heard that long-standing cultural habits needed to be addressed, challenging the 
assumption that putting children into care was the best course of action to keep them 
safe, rather than the provision of support to keep families together. It was highlighted to 
the Committee that removing children from their families and placing them in care did 
not always improve their long-term outcomes and that instead work was ongoing with 
partners to improve the provision of support offered to families in need. 
 
A query was raised in relation to the seeming reduction in open cases, yet a rise in 
protection plans. Mr Arrowsmith explained that Child Protection plans had remained high 
in response to the initial inspection rating, with children remaining on plans longer than 
may be necessary due to a lack of confidence from practitioners to end the plans in place.  
Questions were raised over the extra financial resources being made available to 
Children’s Services as the service had been identified as already being over budget. Mrs 
Booth confirmed that additional funding had been committed to the whole service to 
ensure that improvements could be made and embedded over the long-term. 
 
Committee members queried the fact that adoption levels were at their lowest levels for 
five years, with questions raised over the impact of media promotion of adoption 
services. Mrs Booth stated that alternative options to adoption were on the increase, 
citing special guardianships as a viable alternative. Ms Jeanette Richards, Head of 
Partnerships and Improvement, reiterated that courts were awarding fewer adoption 
rulings, with adoption only considered where no other solutions were available. As a Page 3



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

result, the Committee was informed, the national promotion of adoption had been halted 
across the North West. 
 
Mr Steve Ashley, Independent Chair for the Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board 
presented information to the Committee in relation to the Board’s role in overseeing 
improvements to services. Mr Ashley identified neglect as the biggest driver of children 
entering the care system, stating that the Neglect Strategy had not resulted in the 
anticipated fall in numbers. It was also made clear that schools needed to improve at 
identifying and addressing cases of neglect, with alternative support offered to families 
before automatically referring to Children’s Social Care. Mr Ashley stressed the 
importance of engaging partners in order to move away from the expectation that 
Children’s Social Care would tackle all problems. 
 
The Committee requested that due to the size and complexity of both the Children’s 
Services Ofsted review and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) inspection of 
Blackpool’s Youth Offending Service that future updates to the Committee be reported as 
two separate items with a summary of progress provided for ease of understanding.  
 
Mrs Booth expressed to the Committee that its role was vital as an additional monitoring 
function of the improvement process, with Scrutiny’s strategic overview offering a 
valuable function. 
 
The Committee agreed to continue to monitor the improvement plans of the Youth 
Offending Team and Children’s Social Care. 
 
Ms Richards and Mr Arrowsmith left the meeting following the conclusion of this item. 
 
5  EDUCATION AND SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS UPDATE 
 
The Committee received a report detailing the latest updates on Ofsted inspections of 
schools, numbers of exclusions, school improvement and the new Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities Strategy.  
 
Mrs Booth, Director of Children’s Services informed Committee members that an Ofsted 
inspection of the SEND service was expected imminently, therefore in preparation an ex-
inspectorate officer had been commissioned to review the current arrangements. 
Members were informed that the review had identified a weakness around health and as 
such this was being addressed. 
 
The Committee asked whether the transition between primary and secondary school was 
still proving problematic. Mr Paul Turner, Head of School Standards, Safeguarding and 
Inclusion responded by acknowledging that once primary pupils transitioned to secondary 
school academic progress often faltered. Members heard that a transition project had 
been introduced to review the problem, with a number of potential issues being 
explored. It was noted that secondary school lessons were taught in a different style to 
primary school lessons and that parents were more likely to communicate any issues to 
primary schools more readily. Mr Turner indicated that year nine had been identified as a 
crucial point, where social groups may become more influential and parents often 
experienced parenting challenges.  Page 4



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

 
In addition, Mr Turner made reference to a curriculum project which spanned school 
years five to eight and focused on the avoidance of duplication of previously taught topics 
and subject matter. Members were informed that a number of projects were ongoing 
with the aim of improving the transition from primary to secondary school, 
acknowledging that analysis of the impact of any specific project was difficult due to the 
number of interventions in place. 
 
Mrs Booth informed the Committee of the new but significant home to school support in 
place aimed at extending the provision of care to continue at home as well as during the 
school day. Training of the whole workforce to impress to families the importance of 
education was being implemented, as well as measures to prevent young people who 
attended university leaving the area once they had completed their education.  
 
It was queried whether children had been asked to identify the issues affecting them as 
they transitioned from primary to secondary education. Mrs Booth concurred that the 
ability to ask children to identify what had happened to them was being lost, agreeing 
that direct questions needed to be asked.  
 
Following a question regarding the high number of children opting for Elective Home 
Education, Mr Turner clarified that legislation in the area favoured parents and only 
stated that children must receive an education, with the Local Authority’s role being to 
ensure that the level of education received was appropriate.  
 
Members identified that the number of Blackpool children attending mainstream 
education was significantly lower than the national average of 47 per cent and requested 
clarification on this. Mr Turner explained that whilst Blackpool was moving closer to the 
national average it was only via incremental improvements. This was in part explained by 
the intolerance within schools to address Special Educational Needs. He informed the 
Committee that in some cases Blackpool schools and academies were not meeting their 
statutory obligations in the provision of sufficient facilities. In addition, Mr Turner 
expressed that the situation was further compounded by the popularity of the three 
special schools within the area.  
 
Mrs Booth informed the Committee of an outreach project which had been introduced 
over the past few months and which aimed to build better relationships between schools 
and education trusts. It was noted that improvements were beginning to be seen with 
solutions being identified and worked towards. The importance of education on a child’s 
future prospects was discussed, with the potential impact on employment, housing and 
parenting being acknowledged as well as the need to redraw the landscape of what it 
meant to be a child in Blackpool. 
 
Mr Philip Thompson, Head of Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) stressed 
that sanctions implemented by schools could often be avoided if a child’s needs were 
recognised and met. The example was given of a disruptive pupil whose inability to 
communicate or access the curriculum alongside the rest of the class resulted in sanctions 
and potential exclusions. It was stressed that Special Educational Needs needed to be 
recognised and correctly identified, as 95 per cent of pupils placed in Pupil Referral Units 
were found to have undiagnosed special educational needs or disabilities. It was agreed Page 5



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

that this was an area requiring further exploration and improvement. 
 
Mrs Booth, Mr Turner and Mr Thompson left the meeting following the conclusion of this 
item.  
 
6  BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD HALF YEAR REVIEW 
 
The Committee received an update on the operation of the Blackpool Safeguarding 
Children Board (BSCB) from Mr Steve Ashley, newly appointed Independent Chair of the 
Board. 
 
Members were informed of the forthcoming changes to safeguarding arrangements, with 
the current BSCB ceasing from 29 September 2019. Mr Ashley confirmed that the new 
arrangements would not be published until 28 June 2019, but that they would involve the 
replacement of the Board with a partnership consisting of the Local Authority, the Police 
and Care Commissioning Groups with an Independent Scrutineer in place of the role of 
Chair.   
 
Mr Ashley stated that the new arrangements would bring a refreshed focus, with the 
primary function of the Independent Scrutineer to be to hold partners to account. The 
Committee was informed that the Independent Scrutineer would have the benefit of 
being a permanent position which would allow consistency in the overseeing and 
challenge element of the role. Mr Ashley reiterated the important function of the Scrutiny 
Committee, which he saw as being integral to the process going forward, with the 
Independent Scrutineer calling upon the Committee with areas of concern for Members 
to then investigate further. 
 
Mr Ashley identified the following issues as priorities for the Children and Young People’s 
Scrutiny Committee: 
 

 Early Help – stating that support for families required a major focus. 
 

 Child Exploitation/Criminal Exploitation – identifying exploitation as a large area 
requiring constant review. 
 

 Children’s Social Care – raising the question of whether staff were sufficiently 
supported to adequately fulfil their roles. 
 

The Committee thanked Mr Ashley for his input who left the meeting following conclusion 
of this item.  
 
7  A BETTER START UPDATE 
 
Ms Merle Davies, Director, Blackpool Centre for Early Child Development (CECD) attended 
the Committee meeting to provide an update on the work being undertaken by the 
Centre for Early Child Development on behalf of the ‘A Better Start’ partnership.  
 
The Committee was reminded that Blackpool had been awarded £45 million from the 
National Lottery as part of a ten-year strategic investment to develop new approaches 

Page 6



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

designed to improve early child health and development. Using a place-based approach, 
the ‘A Better Start’ partnership, consisting of the Police, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group, the Local Authority, the 
NSPCC and the community, worked collectively with the aim of breaking the 
intergenerational cycle of poor outcomes for children. Ms Davies informed the 
Committee that the partnership aimed to reduce critical pressures, for example mental 
health and substance misuse and build capabilities such as self-efficacy and positive 
parent-child interaction, in a collaborative manner to achieve collective impact. 
 
Early indications of success included a significant reduction in childhood dental caries, 
reduced numbers of children admitted to hospital due to unintentional and serious injury 
and an increase in the number of children achieving a good level of development by the 
end of reception. Members asked for further details of the change indicators and Ms 
Davies confirmed that she would provide this information for circulation to the 
Committee.   
 
Ms Davies expressed that culture change was at the heart of the desired improvements 
with the community identified as a key partner as well as the importance of external 
agencies working together to address the issues. The Committee was informed that the 
scheme consisted of evidence-based programmes designed to bring about long-term 
behaviour change, with the Enhanced Health Visiting Service cited as an example. The ‘Be 
Your Baby’s Hero’ campaign was discussed, with Members hearing that the project was a 
three year scheme aimed at tackling alcohol consumption during pregnancy, with the 
whole community being asked to support pregnant women in stopping drinking and 
changing unhealthy behaviours.  
 
The low take up of breast feeding was questioned, with Ms Davies explaining that 
behaviour change was more successful when the information provided addressed the 
specific needs of new mothers, which in some cases was advice on safe bottle feeding as 
well as information on breast feeding. It was specifically queried why the breast feeding 
buddies scheme was no longer available, and Members were informed that Public Health 
had identified a decline in breast feeding during the time of the campaign, with very few 
women taking part. Therefore the decision had been taken to cease the buddy scheme. 
However, the CECD had been training Learning to Feed Supporters to provide additional 
help to new parents in infant feeding. 
 
Ms Davies described the aim of A Better Start to be the bringing together of the 
community, including volunteer recruitment, in order to intervene before it became 
necessary for Children’s Social Care to be required and that all agencies needed to be 
influential in bringing about the changes.  
 
The Committee raised the concern that private Early Years providers were not being 
adequately informed of the help available from A Better Start. Ms Davies assured the 
Committee that private nurseries were informed of any available assistance, citing the 
toothbrush scheme and twilight training sessions as support that had been widely 
implemented across private Early Years facilities. It was acknowledged by Ms Davies that 
more could be done in this area, with the Early Years Strategy aiming to produce better 
trained nursery staff via work with the college and the provision of further support. In 
addition, Members were informed that Early Years settings were encouraged to take part Page 7



MINUTES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
THURSDAY, 20 JUNE 2019 

 
 

in the training programme on offer. A further priority was identified as the training of 
staff around speech and language, as well as the recognition of Special Educational Needs 
by staff. 
 
When asked if A Better Start had performance data, Ms Davies confirmed that the first 
full set of key performance indicators would be available for consideration by the A Better 
Start Executive Board in October 2019. It was requested that the Committee also receive 
the data, with Ms Davies agreeing to provide the report for circulation to Members after 
the information had been through the appropriate governance channels. 
 
The encouraging work of A Better Start was noted, with confirmation received of the 
expected funding end date of 2024. 
 
8  COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 
 
The Committee agreed the contents of the draft Work Programme for the remainder of 
the calendar year and noted the date and time of the workplanning workshop as 25 June 
2019 at 12.15pm. 
 
9  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The date of the next meeting was noted as Thursday, 10 October 2019, commencing at 
6pm. 
 
  
  
  
  
Chairman 
  
(The meeting ended at 8.25 pm) 
  
Any queries regarding these minutes, please contact: 
Elaine Ireland, Senior Democratic Governance Adviser 
Tel: 01253 477255 
E-mail: Elaine.ireland@blackpool.gov.uk  

Page 8

mailto:Elaine.ireland@blackpool.gov.uk


 

Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager. 

Date of Meeting  10 October 2019 

 
 

APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBER 
 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 The Committee to consider the appointment of Ms Helen Sage as a diocesan co-
opted member to the Committee. 
 

2.0 Recommendations: 
 

2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 

To approve the appointment of Ms Helen Sage as a diocesan co-opted member to 
the Committee. 
 
To note the remaining two Parent Governor and one Roman Catholic diocesan co-
opted member vacancies. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To ensure the scrutiny process continues to be fully accountable and an important 
part of the democratic process. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is Communities: Creating stronger communities and 
increasing resilience. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5.4 
 
 
 
5.5 

The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 requires the Council to have Parent 
Governor Representatives on the relevant Overview and Scrutiny body dealing wholly 
or partly with education functions. The representatives are entitled to participate in 
discussions on any issue but are only able to vote on any question which relates to 
the education functions of the Council. 
 
The School Standards and Framework Act 1998, and the Education Act 1996 require 
the Council to have Church representatives on the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee which considers education matters. Like the Parent Governor 
representatives, they are entitled to participate in discussions on any issue, but only 
able to vote on any question which relates to the education functions of the Council. 
 
The Council’s Constitution allows for membership of the following representatives in 
order to comply with the statutory requirements: 
  

 One Church of England diocese representative 

 One Roman Catholic diocese representative 

 Two Parent Governor representatives; and 

 Such other representatives of other faiths or denominations as may be agreed 
 
At the meeting of full Council on 22 May 2019 it was agreed that the Children and 
Young People’s Scrutiny Committee should appoint two diocesan co-opted 
representatives and two governor co-opted representatives. 
 
The Scrutiny Manager is continuing to seek appointments to the remaining statutory 
positions. 
 

 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

 List of Appendices: 
 
None. 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None. 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None. 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 

Page 10



 
8.1 
 

None. 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None. 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None. 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None. 
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None. 
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 

Date of Meeting:  10 October 2019 

 

EXECUTIVE AND CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 
 
1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 The Committee to consider the Executive and Cabinet Member decisions within the 
portfolios of the Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members taken since the 
last meeting of the Committee. 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 Members will have the opportunity to question the Deputy Leader of the Council or 
the relevant Cabinet Member in relation to the decisions taken. 

 
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To ensure that the opportunity is given for all Executive and Cabinet Member 
decisions to be scrutinised and held to account. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

N/A 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 
4.0 Council Priority: 

 
4.1 The relevant Council Priority is “Communities – Young People, Safeguarding and 

Resilience.” 
 

5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 Attached at Appendix 5(a) to this report is a summary of the decisions taken, which 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 have been circulated to members previously. 
 

5.2 This report is presented to ensure members are provided with a timely update on the 
decisions taken by the Executive and Cabinet Members.  It provides a process where 
the Committee can raise questions and a response be provided. 
 

5.3 Members are encouraged to seek updates on decisions and will have the opportunity 
to raise any issues. 
 

5.4 Witnesses/representatives 
 

5.4.1 The following Cabinet Members are responsible for the decisions taken in this report 
and have been invited to attend the meeting: 
 

 Councillor Graham Cain, Deputy Leader of the Council (Children) 

 Councillor Kath Benson, Cabinet Member for Schools, Education and 
Aspiration 
 

 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

 List of Appendices:  
 Appendix 5(a) Summary of Executive and Cabinet Member decisions 

taken. 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None. 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None. 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 None. 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None. 
 

Page 14



11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None. 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None. 
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None. 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5(a) 

DECISION / OUTCOME DESCRIPTION NUMBER DATE CABINET 
MEMBER 

BLACKPOOL CHILDREN’S CENTRE REVIEW 
 
The Executive agreed the recommendations as follows: 

1. To agree to implement the new model of 
Children’s Centre delivery from January 2020, as 
outlined in Appendix 2a to the Executive Report. 

2. To agree to move towards a centrally funded 
neighbourhood model with extended delivery in 
three Children’s Centres and an outreach offer in 
six Family Centres.  

3. To agree that the savings made this year from 
the Dedicated School Grant (DSG) before it 
ceases will be used to support the Schools, 
Academies and Local Authority currently 
commissioned to respond to any potential 
redundancies and pension strain costs relating 
to the transition to the new model. 

 

Blackpool Children’s Centres have been a well-used 
community asset since 2005. In order to protect 
Blackpool’s Children’s Centres in the context of 
significant financial challenge the Council has looked 
to best practice to develop a neighborhood Hub and 
Spoke model (consisting of Children’s Centres and 
outreach Family Centres). Due to the reduction of 
external funding there would be a risk of losing all of 
Blackpool’s Children’s Centres unless they evolve.  
 
The savings that are required have been driven by the 
Department for Education (DfE) creating a national 
funding formulae for schools. A separate central 
school services block of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) provides funding for so-called “historic 
commitments”, such as the contribution in Blackpool 
to School-Based Children’s Centre delivery. However, 
with the creation of the new formulae there is an 
expectation that historic commitments will unwind 
over time, therefore the £1million contribution from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant which contributes to 
Blackpool School Based Children’s Centres will no 
longer be available. 
 
A review and consultation have been undertaken to 
find a way forward without reliance on the grant and 
in order to enhance delivery using a locality model of 
Children’s Centres and Family Centres.  
 

EX26/2019 08/07/2019 Councillor 
Graham Cain, 
Deputy Leader 
of the Council 
(Children) 

P
age 17



APPENDIX 5(a) 

TEMPORARY CLOSURE OF 331 BISPHAM ROAD AND 
REVIEW OF RESIDENTIAL SERVICES 
 
The Deputy Leader agreed the recommendations as 
follows: 

1. To agree to the temporary closure of 331 
Bispham Rd with effect from 6 August 2019 until 
31 October 2019 while the outcome of the 
residential review which will inform future 
need/provision is awaited.   

 
2. To agree the interim temporary deployment of 

the staff group at 331 Bispham Road into other 
social care areas until 31 October 2019, pending 
the outcome of the above review. 

 
As part of the review to consult with staff and Unions as 
to whether the present use of 331 Bispham Road is 
appropriate and if not alternative options as to the 
future use of the site, the results to form part of the 
future report to the Executive. 
 

A residential review is taking place to inform the 
Council of the future need and shape of residential 
provision within Blackpool. This review has been 
commissioned independently to look at:  

 Present and future projected demand/need. 

 Configuration of services to meet projected 
demand/need based on our model of practice 
and principles in respect to care for children 
and young people. 

 Future delivery of services, including reviewing 
both in-house and external provision in 
respect to the meeting of demand/need and 
value for money in line with present and 
future framework costs. 

 The residential review will be fully considered 
and full report brought to October Executive 
for decision to be made. 

 

PH41/2019 31/07/2019 Councillor 
Graham Cain, 
Deputy Leader 
of the Council 
(Children) 

BLACKPOOL EARLY YEARS PARTNERSHIP STRATEGY 
2019/2020 
 
The Executive agreed the recommendation as follows: 
 
To agree the Blackpool Early Years Partnership Strategy 
2019/2020 for the period until 30 September 2020 and 
endorse its key strategic priorities. 
 

The Local Authority is required to strategically plan 
with their partners to improve the outcomes of all 
children under 5 and secure appropriate child care 
provision. This partnership strategy brings together 
the commitment of partners and the Local Authority 
to support the strategy.  
 

EX33/2019 16/09/2019 Councillor 
Kath Benson, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Schools, 
Education and 
Aspiration 

P
age 18



APPENDIX 5(a) 

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILTIES 
SERVICE STRATEGY 
 
The Executive agreed the recommendation as follows:  
 
To agree the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
Service Strategy 2019/2021, including its vision and 
strategic objectives, with effect until 30 September 
2021.  
 

Since the introduction of the Children and Families 
Act in 2014, partners in the Local Area are required to 
publish a Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
Services Strategy. The strategy must be consulted on 
with wider partners and stakeholders. It must include 
arrangements on how the Local Area plan to meet the 
needs of young people aged 0-25, and how they will 
have their needs identified and support offered if they 
have a Special Educational Need. 
 
The strategy aims to meet the requirements of the 
Children and Families Act in a way that is ambitious, 
inclusive and realistic in a challenging financial 
context and therefore forms the Council’s policy for 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities. The 
strategy is centred around a vision for all children and 
young people, particularly those with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities or are looked after 
to have the right support and opportunities at the 
right time so that they become resilient, happy and 
successful in their adulthood. The Council wants to be 
aspirational and ambitious for all children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities, especially where that child may be looked 
after.  
 

EX34/2019 16/09/19 Councillor 
Kath Benson, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Schools, 
Education and 
Aspiration 

 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 

Date of Meeting:  10 October 2019 
 

FORWARD PLAN 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 The Committee to consider the content of the Council’s Forward Plan October 2019 
to February 2020, relating to the portfolios of the Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Members. 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 Members will have the opportunity to question the Deputy Leader of the Council 
and/or the relevant Cabinet Member in relation to items contained within the 
Forward Plan within the portfolios of the Deputy Leader of the Council and the 
Cabinet Member for Schools, Education and Aspiration. 
 

2.2 Members will have the opportunity to consider whether any of the items should be 
subjected to pre-decision scrutiny. In so doing, account should be taken of any 
requests or observations made by the relevant Cabinet Member. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To enable the opportunity for pre-decision scrutiny of the Forward Plan items. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

N/A 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is “Communities – Young People, Safeguarding and 
Resilience.” 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 
 

5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 
 

The Forward Plan is prepared by the Leader of the Council to cover a period of four 
months and has effect from the first working day of any month. It is updated on a 
monthly basis and subsequent plans cover a period beginning with the first working 
day of the second month covered in the preceding plan. 

 

5.2 The Forward Plan contains matters which the Leader has reason to believe will be 
subject of a key decision to be taken either by the Executive, a Committee of the 
Executive, individual Cabinet Members or Officers. 
 

5.3 Attached at Appendix 6(a) is a list of items contained in the current Forward Plan. 
Further details appertaining to each item is contained in the Forward Plan, which has 
been forwarded to all members separately. 
 

5.4 Witnesses/representatives 
 

5.4.1 The following Cabinet Members are responsible for the Forward Plan items in this 
report and have been invited to attend the meeting: 
 

 Councillor Graham Cain, Deputy Leader of the Council (Children) 

 Councillor Kath Benson, Cabinet Member for Schools, Education and 
Aspiration 
 

 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 
 
 List of Appendices:  
 Appendix 6(a) Summary of items contained within Forward Plan 

October 2019 to February 2020. 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None. 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None. 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 None. 

Page 22



  
9.0 Financial considerations: 

 
9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None. 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None. 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None. 
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None. 
 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

APPENDIX 6(a) 

Anticipated 
Date 
of Decision 

Matter for Decision 
Decision 
Reference 

Decision 
Taker 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member 

October 
2019 

The School Organisation Plan 
2020-2028 addresses the 
Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there is sufficient 
provision of school places for 
young people within the 
borough.  It looks at existing 
school provision in the town 
and pupil projections over the 
next several years, and makes 
recommendations regarding 
the strategic approach to 
managing the supply and 
demand for places over the life 
of the plan. 

13/2019 Executive Cllr Benson 

November 
2019 

Review of residential children’s 
home provision. 

17/2019 Executive Cllr Cain 

February 
2020 

The implementation of a 
regional adoption agency with 
Lancashire County Council in 
November 2019, in accordance 
with the regionalising adoption 
agenda. 

16/2019 Executive Cllr Cain 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN  -  SUMMARY OF KEY 

DECISIONS 

(OCTOBER 2019 TO FEBRUARY 2020) 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Diane Booth, Director of Children’s Services 

Date of Meeting  10 October 2019 

 

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE IMPROVEMENT 
 
1.1 To inform the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee on the progress and 

implementation of developments within the “Getting to Good” Journey for Children’s 
Social Care. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To note the contents of the report and to ensure that current work continues 
to meet statutory obligations, is delivering change in Children’s Services and 
that work to prepare for external inspections continues. 

 To continue to meet statutory monitoring, challenge and support obligations. 

 To identify any further information and actions required. 
 

 
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

For members of the Scrutiny Committee to be fully informed as to the day to day 
work of the Children’s Services Directorate and have assurance that Blackpool is 
continuing to meet its statutory obligations for future inspection requirements.   
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

 No 

3.2b 
 
 
3.3 
 

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
Other alternative options considered: 
 
Services are subject to national and statutory frameworks. 

Yes 

  
4.0 Council Priority: 

 
4.1 The relevant Council Priority is:  

 

 Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Children’s Social Care Performance Overview at Month End – 

September 2019 

Responding to and assessing concerns for children and families 

In August 2019 Children’s Services had its first monitoring visit from OFSTED.  The 

outcome of the first monitoring visit is not published, but a summary of the feedback 

received, which has been shared with partners, is attached at Appendix 7(a). 

The inspectors asked for information in advance, reviewed case audits and case files 

and during their visit sat with workers and managers from the Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and Assessment and Planning teams.  Overall, they saw 

improvements in the way the work of the front door is managed since their last visit, 

though they share the view of the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) that further 

work is required with the partnership to ensure that the service is as effective as it 

can and should be. 

As part of the work of the Getting to Good board, partner representatives from 

Health (Clinical Commissioning Group and Provider) and the Police were formally 

asked to commit to actions which will be tracked by the Getting to Good board for 

implementation and impact. 

Demand for Children’s Social Care assessment remains very high. During the past six 

months, 4,200 children and young people have been the subject of a reported 

concern to children’s social care. In the same period 2,000 assessments have been 

completed by Children’s Social Care. Issues remain concerning the quality of the 

referrals received from partner agencies, with particular reference to seeking 

parental consent; and the impact this has on our ability to take decisions within 24 

hours (the expected timescale). Time taken seeking consent is time not spent 

gathering further information to inform decision making.  

Internal analysis confirms that many of the assessments undertaken do not result in 

on-going engagement with Children’s Social Care – for example, less than a third of 

all those children and young people newly assessed in June remained open to 

Children’s Social Care by mid-September. Additional investment in capacity to 

address the presenting demand has led to a more robust, resilient system for 

assessment (something confirmed by Ofsted in their recent monitoring visit), which 

performs well in terms of timeliness. However, it still represents a large amount of 

work completed which led to relatively little on-going work with children and 

families. 

Page 28



 

Strengthening and Supporting Families 

The total number of children and young people open to Children’s Social Care in 

Blackpool remains slightly over 2,000 at the end of September – similar to the level in 

March 2019. More of those children and young people are subject to child protection 

plans (up 60 on March at 450) or in care (up 20 on March at 590). The steady 

increase in the number of children in care is putting pressure on placement stability 

and there has been an increase in placement breakdown and in the number of 

children and young people living in high-cost placements.   

Supporting Our Children 

“Placement stability” or having a safe place to live that does not change is a key area 

of attention for Blackpool.  Ensuring that all our children are living in environments 

where they feel safe and well cared for, and where they are able to stay even 

through periods of challenge is an area for further development.  Many of our 

children stay in the same home while they are in our care, but a small number move 

multiple times.  Children’s Services are working on a new Commissioning Strategy 

which focuses on the development and maintenance of relationships with providers 

of services for children and families, supporting them to build stable relationships 

with our children.  Expanding our internal fostering provision and strengthening our 

relationships with residential providers in Blackpool are ongoing projects for us and 

we are working together with provider representatives to share our aims and 

improve outcomes for those young people who most need our help. 

331 Bispham Road is temporarily closed while a review takes place, with staff 

deployed in valued roles across the service and using their skills to work directly with 

children and young people.   

5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Recruitment and Retention  
 
Children’s Services and Human Resources and Marketing continue to work closely 

together to ensure that the opportunities for Social Workers and Social Work 

Managers in Blackpool are visible and attracting the right candidates.  Along with 

other authorities across the country the recruitment of highly skilled and experienced 

social workers remains a challenge.  Recruitment of newly qualified Social Workers 

and support for current employees to gain a social work qualification is positive and 

working well. 

New arrangements are being made to further streamline the recruitment and 

application process and to target the potential workforce with key information that 

research tells us will be of interest to them and help Blackpool develop a reputation 

Page 29



as a great place to work with children and families. 

Qualified Social Workers recruited externally to Blackpool since January 2019 – 19 in 

post, 13 recruited awaiting start. 32 in total. 

 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

7.0 List of Appendices: 
Appendix 7(a) OFSTED Summary 

 

  
8.0 Legal considerations: 

 
8.1 
 

None 
 

9.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None 
 

10.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1 None 
 
11.0 Financial considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

At Month 3 (as reported to the Executive): 
 

An overspend of £8,063k is forecast. Children’s Social Care is forecast to overspend 
by £7,789k, due to ongoing pressures relating to Looked After Children (LAC). When 
budgets were set £3,570k was earmarked to cover the forecast overspend. Since that 
time, there has been an increase in LAC numbers and an adverse change in the mix of 
LAC placements, resulting in an additional pressure of £3,497k.   
 
In addition to this, an amount of £3,936k is included in the forecast relating to the 
Directorate’s Ofsted Improvement Plan, which was developed and implemented 
following the recommendations outlined in the Ofsted report published in December 
2018. This figure includes the cost of a number of ongoing interventions which were 
put in place immediately following the review, but also reflects the outcome of a 
detailed evaluation of the service model, which has taken place in the early part of 
the current financial year and which has resulted in the introduction of a new staffing 
structure for the longer term. The new structure represents a fundamental shift in 
the management of Children’s Social Care in Blackpool – a shift from managing the 
problems to addressing the source of them. It proposes additional capacity to enable 
social workers to spend more time with children and families, to build better 
relationships and have more effective interventions, building on the strengths within 
each family and thereby preventing escalation.  

Page 30



 
Independent analysis suggests that the approach should result in a long-term 
reduction in the number of cases open to Children’s Social Care at any one time and 
through the year. It will also reduce the number of children on child protection plans 
or in the care of the Local Authority. In addition to the cost pressures described 
above, there is a forecast shortfall of £356,000 against the Troubled Families’ £1m 
income target.  By June 2019 LAC numbers stand at 580.    
 

12.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1 None 
 

13.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1 
 

None 

14.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1 
 

None 
 

15.0 Background papers: 
 

15.1 
 

None 
 
 

 
  
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



          APPENDIX 7(a) 
Monitoring Visit of Blackpool Children’s Services - August 2019 
 
The visit took place over 2 days, starting on 14 August. Prior to the visit, the service provided 
OFSTED with a long list of documents and data and shared with them our current view of 
performance and progress against our planned improvements. During this visit, Inspectors 
reviewed the progress made for front door arrangements, which includes the MASH and 
assessment and support teams.  
 
The first monitoring visit OFSTED make after an inadequate judgement of Children’s Social 
Care is followed by a letter which summarises their view of what they saw.  This is never 
published, though all the visits we have from now on will be followed by a published letter. 
 
The key messages that they have shared with us are detailed below.  There are lots of 
positives about the change that they saw when they visited and huge thanks and 
congratulations go to the many staff who sat with and were interviewed by the Inspectors 
during their visit.  Your professionalism and positive presentation is appreciated. 
 
As you would expect, alongside the good feedback suggesting that the change that is 
happening is moving us in the right direction, there were areas that OFSTED told us that in 
the short time they were with us, they felt needed further attention.   
 
Positives  
 

 The Inspectors noted that progress was evident at the front door of services and that 
the service children and families receive from the “front door” of Children’s Social 
Care is consistent and addresses the shortfalls identified in the inspection associated 
with this area. 

 There is evidence of increasing strategic engagement with a range of partners to 
understand how practice can be improved – the Inspectors talked positively about 
the role of the Getting To Good board and how the partnership is receiving 
information that is helping to develop an understanding of the pattern of demand 
across Blackpool.  

 Positive investment from the Local Authority was seen in evidence and the 
commitment to embedding and sustaining these resources was noted. 

 A single point of entry for all contacts to Children’s Services has been developed in 
the MASH since inspection. Systems and processes for all contacts and referrals have 
been reviewed and enhanced to ensure that there is now appropriate consideration 
of children’s histories. Thresholds are applied consistently, reviewed by managers at 
key decision-making points and the rationale for next steps is evidenced clearly. 
Children are signposted promptly to appropriate levels of help and support, 
including those children who require an early help service. 

 Information-gathering and decision-making are well recorded on children’s files 
during the MASH triage process, enabling a clear understanding of the actions taken. 

 Audit activity has increased and is sufficiently critical of the quality of social work 
practice. 

Page 33



 The quality of referrals is improving and some demonstrate appropriate 
consideration of the child’s views and the impact of parental behaviour on children. 

 Experienced and knowledgeable social workers and managers respond to contacts in 
a timely way. Management oversight is more organised and timely and ensures that 
thresholds for initial decision-making are much clearer and more proportionate than 
was the case at the time of the inspection. 

 Immediate risk is recognised and responded to promptly and families are signposted 
by a manager to the right service to meet their needs. There is appropriate 
consideration of the child’s history and lived experience rather than a focus on the 
presenting issue; this is an improvement since the inspection. 

 A new anonymised telephone advice line is regarded as a useful asset to partners 
who may wish to speak to a social worker prior to making a referral. 

 Missing from home notifications are overseen promptly by MASH managers and 
there is a much clearer rationale for next steps in line with revised child exploitation 
pathways. 

 Out-of-hours work is timely, safeguarding action is taken when needed and the 
interface with daytime services ensures an effective transition of information.  

 Children who are at risk of harm are identified promptly. Strategy meetings held by 
the ASTs are recorded clearly and most have representation from relevant agencies. 
Actions from strategy discussions are followed through and ensure a mostly prompt 
response to concerns. 

 Social workers know their cases well and visits to children are timely and explore 
their views. 

 Supervision of social workers provides more case direction and reflection on the case 
than was previously the position and a rationale for actions is clearly provided. 
Caseloads are mostly manageable due to the additional capacity in response to 
increased demand. Social workers also report positively on the support they receive 
from managers and the increasing time they can now spend with families. Training 
needs of social workers have been reviewed and the core offer has been revised, 
including the development of learning circles open to both agency and permanent 
staff. This demonstrates that the local authority has prioritised the recruitment, 
retention and development of its workforce since inspection. 

 
Areas for Improvement/ Further Attention 
 

 This has been in the context of a rise in demand for services, as the volume of 
contacts and referrals increased significantly post-inspection. Inspectors said that 
“Further work is required to develop a more strategic response from across the 
partnership.”  

 Further improvement is required to ensure that both teams at the front door (MASH 
and AST) work more effectively together to understand thresholds, reduce delay and 
progress assessments in a timely way. 

 Careful consideration is given to obtaining parental consent, but there is still more to 
do to ensure that partners are challenged to seek consent from families prior to 
contacting MASH.  

 Police notifications relating to domestic abuse are now overseen by social work 
managers, but there is sometimes a delay in police officers reporting notifications 

Page 34



to the MASH. This leads to some children not receiving the support they need 
quickly enough.  

 Learning from audit work is not yet fully embedded into practice. The quality of 
assessments is too variable; this is confirmed by the local authority’s own audits. 
There is more work to do to secure further improvement in the quality of 
assessments, so that they fully reflect the development of a clear model of practice.  

 The multi-agency referral form is used, although learning from audits has indicated 
that this requires further review.  

 More work is needed to ensure that partner agencies seek consent more pro-
actively prior to contacting the MASH.  

 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Diane Booth, Director of Children’s Services 

Date of Meeting  
  

10 October 2019 

 

YOUTH OFFENDING TEAM IMPROVEMENT 
 
1.1 To receive an update in relation to key performance indicators and any risk areas 

identified in relation to the Youth Offending Team improvement plan. 
  

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To note the contents of the report and to ensure that current work continues 
to meet statutory obligations, is delivering change and that work to prepare 
for external inspections continues. 

 To continue to meet statutory monitoring, challenge and support obligations. 

 To identify any further information and actions required. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

For Members of the Scrutiny Committee to be fully informed as to the day to day 
work of the Children’s Services Directorate and have assurance that Blackpool is 
continuing to meet its statutory obligations for future inspection requirements.   
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

 No 

3.2b 
 
 
3.3 
 

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
Other alternative options considered: 
 
Services are subject to national and statutory frameworks. 

Yes 

  
4.0 Council Priority: 

 
4.1 The relevant Council Priority is:  

 

 Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Youth Offending Service 
 
In September 2019 a partnership day was held to focus on the Youth Offending Team 

(YOT) improvement journey and next steps.  Whilst there was acknowledgement that 

great strides have been made by the service in improving the service and there is a 

much sounder approach to understanding and interpreting data from a number of 

sources that supports the development of services, the work of the partnership to 

deliver improvements collectively remains a concern.  Further work as part of the 

development of the Children and Families Partnership for Blackpool will include the 

Youth Offending Service and seek to address this at a strategic level.   

Work operationally to improve outcomes through driving quality improvements 

within the team is continuing and 90 per cent of the milestones in the annual 

improvement plan have been completed on time. 

Nationally released data on 2018/2019 performance confirmed improvement in the 

main indicators of effectiveness for local youth justice services: 

 First entrant rate per 100,000 10 to 17 year olds fell from nearly 500 in 2017 

to just over 300 in 2018, moving much close to national and regional averages 

and the performance of youth justice services in the 10 most similar areas in 

England and Wales (Blackpool ranked fifth highest out of these 11 areas). 

 Reoffending rates remained higher than national and regional averages, but 

again Blackpool ranked fifth out of 11 when compared to similar areas. 

 The number of young people sentenced to custody, scaled per 1,000 head of 

population aged 10 to 17 years old, fell substantially (almost halved) – down 

from 1.08 in the period April 2017 to March 2018, to 0.58 for the period from 

April 2018 to March 2019. There is still work to do across the partnership, 

though, as the rate remains the highest amongst similar areas and higher than 

the regional or national average. 

Other indicators showed relatively strong performance compared to similar areas for 

the percentage of young people in education, employment or training at the end of 

their order (just under 40 per cent), but continued weakness around 

accommodation, with only 60 per cent of those at the end of orders in suitable 

accommodation: the lowest performance amongst our group of similar areas. 

 
 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

Page 38



7.0 List of Appendices:  
 None 

 
8.0 Legal considerations: 

 
8.1 
 

None 
 

9.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None 
 

10.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1 
 

None 
 

 
11.0 Financial considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

It is currently not possible to separate out the YOT budget as it is now integrated into  
‘Blackpool Young People Services’. 
 

12.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1 None 
 

13.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1 
 

None 
 

14.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1 
 

None 
 

15.0 Background papers: 
 

15.1 
 

None 
 
 

 
  
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Diane Booth, Director of Children’s Services 

Date of Meeting  10 October 2019 

 

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND EDUCATION RESULTS UPDATE 
 
1.1 To receive an overview of Special Educational Needs and Disability and schools’ 

results data. 
  

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To note the contents of the report and to ensure that current work continues 
to meet statutory obligations, is delivering change in Children’s Services and 
that work to prepare for external inspections continues. 

 To continue to meet statutory monitoring, challenge and support obligations. 

 To identify any further information and actions required. 
 

 
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

For Members of the Scrutiny Committee to be fully informed as to the day to day 
work of the Children’s Services Directorate and have assurance that Blackpool is 
continuing to meet its statutory obligations for future inspection requirements.   
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

 No 

3.2b 
 
 
3.3 
 

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
Other alternative options considered: 
 
Services are subject to national and statutory frameworks. 

Yes 

  
4.0 Council Priority: 

 
4.1 The relevant Council Priority is:  

 

 Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 School-Age Performance in 2019 and Post-16 Engagement in Education, 

Employment and Training 

Provisional data released by the Department for Education shows that Blackpool’s 

primary schools have had their strongest ever year – performing two per cent above 

the national average in the main accountability measure: the percentage of children 

performing at or above expected levels in Reading, Writing and Maths. This wider 

strength is underpinned by very strong performance by groups of children that 

typically struggle academically – disadvantaged learners and those with low 

performance at the end of the previous key stage. In Blackpool, these groups 

outperform their national peers by as much as 10 per cent.  

The achievement of children with identified Special Educational Needs and Disability 

(SEND) is also particularly strong at the end of Primary school (10 per cent above the 

national SEND cohort in the main Reading, Writing and Maths at expected levels). It 

is also important to note that the performance of primary schools is not an isolated 

exception. Blackpool’s primary schools have performed relatively strongly at the end 

of Key Stage 2 since 2017. Provisional School Level GCSE data will be published on 17 

October.  Early indications of secondary school performance at GCSE shows 

continued weakness in aggregate performance, with improvements at some schools 

being offset by falls at others.   

National data released concerning Post-16 engagement with education, employment 

and training showed substantial improvement in Blackpool – up nine per cent on the 

figure in March 2018; and standing at 90.2 per cent of all 16 and 17 year olds, still 

one per cent beneath the average for the North West and two per cent beneath the 

national average, but now above the figure for Lancashire.  

The year on year change builds on a substantial reduction in the number of young 

people where their status was previously unknown. Within this performance, the use 

of apprenticeships remains relatively low (three per cent beneath region, two per 

cent beneath national averages and five per cent beneath Lancashire). It is also the 

engagement at 16 years of age that remains stubbornly lower than national or 

regional average, rather than that of the older age band. 

Special Educational Need and Disability 

Recently released data confirms the relatively high proportion of children for whom 

Blackpool holds an Education, Health and Care plan (EHCP) that have their needs met 

within a special school. In Blackpool, two-thirds of children and young people with 

EHCPs go to special schools (53 per cent in maintained special schools and 11 per 

cent in independent special schools – the most expensive type of provision). This 

Page 42



compares with a national and regional pattern of around 40 per cent of those with 

EHCPs attending special school. While the pattern for new plans sees a lower 

proportion in special schools (40 per cent), this is still high compared to national or 

regional averages (20-25 per cent); and is the fifth highest in the country behind 

Liverpool and Wirral on Merseyside and Bristol and North Somerset, reflecting very 

particular patterns of provision in those cities. 

Data also showed continued high and rising levels of identified special need in 

schools, but without an EHCP – now up to 17 per cent of all those in primary or 

secondary. Again, this figure is higher than national or regional averages, or the 

average for similar areas. It is also increasingly diverging from the pattern in similar 

areas – see chart below: 

 

In terms of the type of need within schools, relative to the national average, speech 

and language needs are most pronounced in primary schools, followed by moderate 

learning difficulties and social, emotional and mental health needs. The latter two 

areas of need are prevalent in secondary schools as well. Autism has a markedly 

lower prevalence across both primary and secondary schools. 

On a positive note, the timely completion of EHCPs, which had been a major issue in 

2018 has improved greatly during 2019. 79 per cent of new plans have been 

completed within the 20 week timescale in the last three months (20 per cent above 

Page 43



the national average rate). 

 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 
No 
 

7.0 List of Appendices: 
 

 None. 
 

 

8.0 Legal considerations: 
 

 

8.1 
 

None. 
 

9.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1 None. 
 
11.0 Financial considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

Dedicated Schools Grant Funded Services  
  
The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is the funding stream that supports the Schools 
Budget, which includes amounts that are devolved through the Individual School 
Budget (ISB), together with centrally retained pupil-related services as listed in the 
revenue summary. Any under or overspends against services funded by the DSG will 
be carried forward to 2020/2021 and, in the case of overspends, become the first call 
on the grant in that year. The forecast DSG deficit now stands at £2.459m by 31 
March 2020. 
  
Education  
  
The overspend in the Education division (£577,000) relates primarily to the Special 
Educational Needs (SEN) Transport Service and is partly due to demand pressures 
and partly due to the savings target of £320,000 that was applied in 2017/2018 but 
not achieved. 
 

12.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1 None. 
 

Page 44



 
13.0 Ethical considerations: 

 
13.1 
 

None. 
 

14.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1 
 

None. 
 

15.0 Background papers: 
 

15.1 
 

None. 
 

 
  
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: 
Stephen Ashley, outgoing Independent Chair of Blackpool 
Safeguarding Children Board 

Date of Meeting:  10 October 2019 

 

BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD FINAL ANNUAL REPORT 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To receive and consider the annual report of Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  
 

 To review the report, asking questions of the content 

 To identify any further information and/ or actions required 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To allow for full consideration of the annual report and discussion of the issues raised 
by its content. 
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: None 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is  

  “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience” 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  All Local Safeguarding Children Boards have a statutory responsibility to publish an 
annual report that “provide[s] a rigorous and transparent assessment of the 
performance and effectiveness of local services… [to] identify areas of weakness, the 
causes of those weaknesses and the action being taken to address them”. 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



6.2  This is the final annual report of Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB), 
covering a period from 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2019, prior to it being replaced by the 
Children’s Safeguarding Assurance Partnership, which is a shared arrangement with 
Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire. 
 

6.3  The outgoing BSCB Chair, Stephen Ashley, has been appointed Independent 
Scrutineer to the new arrangements. 
 

6.4  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

 

7.1  Appendix 10(a): BSCB Annual Report 2018-2019 
 

8.0  Legal considerations: 
 

8.1  None 
 

9.0  Human resources considerations: 
 

9.1  None 
 

10.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1  None 
 

11.0  Financial considerations: 
 

11.1  None 
 

12.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1  None 
 

13.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1  None 
 

14.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1  None 
 

15.0  Background papers: 
 

Page 48



15.1  None 
 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

Page 51

elaine.ireland
Typewritten Text
			APPENDIX 10(a)

elaine.ireland_1
Typewritten Text
					   	  



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019

CONTENTS

FOREWORD FROM THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR 1

WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO 2

BLACKPOOL: THE PLACE AND ITS PEOPLE 6

SAFEGUARDING IN BLACKPOOL: NEED, DEMAND, PRESSURE 
AND PERFORMANCE

7

INSPECTIONS 14

WHAT WE HAVE DONE THIS YEAR 15

OUR PARTNERS’ ACTIVITIES 32

CONCLUSIONS 36

APPENDIX A 37

APPENDIX B 38

Page 52



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 1

FOREWORD FROM THE 
INDEPENDENT CHAIR

Thank you for taking the time to read the annual report of the Blackpool Safeguarding 
Children Board.

In fact, the report has covered a period extending to the end of June 2019.  This is because the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017 has seen the current safeguarding arrangements change.  In future there will be a new safeguarding 
partnership that will see us join together with our colleagues in Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire; albeit 
retaining structures to ensure we do not lose the local focus on child safeguarding.  These new arrangements 
come into place on 29th September.

I would like to thank the previous Chair Nancy Palmer, who stepped down in January 2019, for her work over a 
number of years and all of those partners who have worked so hard to safeguard our children.

This has been a difficult year for safeguarding in Blackpool.  Several of our key agencies have had adverse 
inspectorate reports.  In particular, Children’s Services in Blackpool were inspected by Ofsted at the beginning of 
the year and judged to be inadequate.

This is clearly a worrying position, but I am pleased to say that following intensive work and investment it has been 
agreed by the Department for Education that those services have already made considerable progress.  Children’s 
services will continue to get further support and will be monitored by Ofsted over the next two years.  The quarterly 
reports by Ofsted can be viewed on their website.

It is also pleasing to be able to report that Lancashire Constabulary have also been re-inspected by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) and received an outstanding result in terms of 
the improvement in safeguarding.

This report highlights the huge amount of good work conducted by individuals and agencies across Blackpool.  
The board agreed a number of priorities and again I have been impressed with the progress made.

As the new safeguarding partnership arrangements develop, the public will be kept informed of the progress 
agencies have made through a new website. I look forward to seeing continuous improvement in services over the 
coming years and would like to take this opportunity to thank all of those front-line staff who continue to work to 
protect and safeguard our children.

Steve Ashley 
Independent Chair 
Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board

Page 53



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 2

WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO

What is a Local Safeguarding Children 
Board?

Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) is 
a multi-agency body whose role is to oversee, co-
ordinate, challenge and scrutinise the work of all 
professionals and organisations to protect children 
in the town from abuse and neglect, and to help all 
children grow up safe, happy, and with the maximum 
opportunity to realise their potential. 

It is a statutory body, established under the Children 
Act 2004. Under the Act every upper-tier local authority 
in England is required to establish a Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) with two primary purposes:

• To co-ordinate what is done by each 
person or body represented on the Board 
to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children in the local authority area; and 

• To ensure the effectiveness of what is done by 
each person or body for these purposes.

Subsequently published regulations and guidance 
expand the role of the LSCB to include developing 
policies and procedures, raising awareness of the need 
to safeguard children, participating in the planning of 
local services for children, reviewing child deaths and 
undertaking serious case reviews. LSCB do not have 
the power to direct other organisations, but should 
make it clear where improvement is needed.  

What is this report?

Every LSCB is required to publish an Annual Report. 
The purpose of the Annual Report, as set out in 
Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015), is to 
“provide a rigorous and transparent assessment of 
the performance and effectiveness of local services. 
It should identify areas of weakness, the causes of 
those weaknesses and the actions being taken to 
address them as well as other proposals for action. 
The report should include lessons from reviews 
undertaken within the reporting period”. The report 
should include information on the LSCB’s assessment 
of the effectiveness of Board partners’ response to 
child sexual exploitation (CSE), and appropriate data 
on children missing from care, and how the LSCB is 
addressing the issue.

Due to forthcoming changes to strategic multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements, outlined below, this will 
be the final annual report of BSCB. It therefore covers 
a fifteen month period from 1st April 2018 until 30th 
June 2019, the point at which the handover process to 
successor arrangements was set in motion.

Who are we?

BSCB comprises of a range of partner agencies (full 
membership is detailed in appendix A), all of whom 
have a statutory responsibility to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children in Blackpool. 

A number of our partner agencies have a statutory 
responsibility to sit on BSCB (for example the local 
authority, police, health organisations, probation and 
Cafcass), while others have been invited to do so 
due to the significance of their work in Blackpool (for 
example Blackpool Coastal Housing and NSPCC). 
BSCB was compliant with statutory requirements in 
respect of partner agency membership throughout the 
reporting period. However, it did not fulfil the statutory 
requirement for lay member representation, due to an 
earlier decision not to recruit to the posts following 
the resignation of the two previous lay members. This 
decision was taken on the basis of the forthcoming 
dissolution of BSCB. 

BSCB is led by an Independent Chair whose external 
perspective, enables him to bring impartial challenge 
to any member agency. Nancy Palmer stepped down 
from the role of Independent Chair in February 2019 
and was replaced by Stephen Ashley. Stephen has 
an operational background in policing, after which 
he has served as Independent Chair of the LSCB 
in Rotherham, Tower Hamlets and Hillingdon. He is 
also currently the Independent Chair of Lancashire 
LSCB and Blackpool Safeguarding Adults Board 
(BSAB). He promotes the work of BSCB through 
regular attendance at other strategic boards and 
through meetings with senior managers in partner 
agencies, schools and other bodies that have a duty to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

Page 54



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 3

Relationships

Stephen Ashley is accountable to Blackpool Council’s 
chief executive, Neil Jack, for the effective functioning 
of BSCB. In turn, political oversight is provided by Cllr 
Graham Cain, who sits as a participating observer on 
the BSCB Strategic Board.

BSCB works in partnership with Blackpool Council’s 
multi-agency Getting to Good Board (formerly the 
Children’s Improvement Board), which drives the 
ongoing development of children’s services more 
broadly. While this body has been in place for a 
number of years, it has assumed an increased 
importance following the Ofsted inspection of 
children’s services, outlined in Chapter 4 below. 
A formal memorandum of understanding has 
consequently been drawn up between BSCB and 
the Getting to Good Board to ensure that work is 
delegated appropriately, while the board chairs 
routinely meet to co-ordinate activity.

BSCB is also part of the broader local partnership 
architecture that promotes the health and wellbeing of 
all Blackpool residents. As well as BSCB, this includes 
the statutory bodies of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Community Safety Partnership and Blackpool 
Safeguarding Adults Board. There is understandably a 
degree of overlap between the work (and membership) 
of these boards and their chairs have regular meetings 
to co-ordinate their work and to avoid duplication. 
Responsibility for the multi-agency response to 
domestic abuse (DA) was handed over from BSCB 
to the Community Safety Partnership at the start of 
the reporting period, however BSCB and its partner 
agencies continue to contribute to the DA action plan 
to ensure that children who live with DA are properly 
safeguarded. 

The Independent Chair and business manager also 
regularly participate in meetings with their counterparts 
from Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire to ensure 
that a co-ordinated response is taken to issues that 
extend beyond Blackpool. This assists our partner 
agencies, the majority of whom have a geographical 
footprint that extends beyond Blackpool. A pan-
Lancashire Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) has 
been in place since 2011, while formal arrangements 
are in place for the sharing of multi-agency policies 
and procedures, including the shared Continuum of 
Need (CON). 

How do we work?

The work of BSCB is driven by the Strategic Board, 
which met on a quarterly basis throughout the 
reporting period. Strategic Board members are senior 
managers from partner agencies who are able to make 
decisions on behalf of their agency and to ensure that 
their agency abides by the decisions of the Board.

Strategic Board members agreed a business plan 
for 2018-19 shortly before the start of the reporting 
period and agreed a six month addendum to the 
plan in March 2019 to cover the final period of the 
Board’s operation. Progress against the business plan 
objectives is covered in Chapter 5 below.

The delivery of specific elements of the BSCB 
Business Plan and other statutory functions are 
delegated to subgroups, some of which are held on a 
joint basis with BSAB, or with Blackburn with Darwen 
and Lancashire LSCBs. Subgroups are chaired by 
Strategic Board members with the necessary expertise 
to tackle the area in question (with the exception 
of CDOP, which is independently chaired), while 
members are drawn from the agencies considered 
necessary for the subgroup to meet its objectives. 
Subgroup chairs (with the exception of the Child 
Death Overview Panel) are members of the Business 
Management Group (BMG), which co-ordinates their 
work and monitors business plan delivery. The work 
of the subgroups is referenced throughout this report 
and a structure chart is included as Appendix B.

Attendance at Board Meetings

BSCB members have agreed that the acceptable 
minimum attendance rate for the named representative 
at board and subgroup meetings is 75%. The 
Independent Chair and subgroup chairs challenge 
attendance likely to fall below the acceptable rate 
throughout the year. The attendance of the named 
representative at Strategic Board and subgroups is 
recorded below, although on many occasions when 
the named representative was unable to attend a 
deputy did so. For the sake of brevity, agencies 
that solely attend subgroups have been omitted. 
Attendance at all meetings has been poorer than 
expected during the reporting period, including two 
inquorate subgroup meetings. Challenge, where 
appropriate, has also been balanced with a recognition 
of the demands on partner agencies. It is expected 
that the successor arrangements to BSCB, outlined 
below, by being based on a broader geographical 
footprint will rationalise he overall number of meetings 
agencies are expected to service and enable them to 
properly prioritise their attendance.

Page 55



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 4

A
g

en
cy

B
o

a
rd

B
M

G
Q

A
P

M
Tr

a
in

in
g

V
M

E
T

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ou
nc

il 
– 

E
le

ct
ed

 M
em

b
er

 
80

%
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ou
nc

il 
– 

D
ire

ct
or

 o
f C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s

80
%

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ou
nc

il 
– 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
(o

th
er

 r
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
es

)
10

0%
80

%
10

0%
10

0%
10

0%

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ou
nc

il 
– 

Ta
rg

et
ed

 In
te

rv
en

tio
n 

S
er

vi
ce

 
20

%
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ou
nc

il 
– 

S
ch

oo
ls

 Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t
80

%
20

%
60

%
40

%
60

%

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ou
nc

il 
– 

P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

60
%

n/
a

40
%

n/
a

80
%

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ou
nc

il 
– 

Le
is

ur
e,

 C
at

er
in

g 
an

d
 Il

lu
m

in
at

io
ns

60
%

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

La
nc

as
hi

re
 C

on
st

ab
ul

ar
y 

– 
W

es
te

rn
 D

iv
is

io
n

20
%

20
%

n/
a

n/
a

10
0%

La
nc

as
hi

re
 C

on
st

ab
ul

ar
y 

– 
H

Q
 P

ub
lic

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

U
ni

t
80

%
n/

a
40

%
80

%
20

%

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

C
G

 –
 C

hi
ef

 N
ur

se
/ 

H
ea

d
 o

f S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g
20

%
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

C
G

 –
 (D

ep
ut

y)
 D

es
ig

na
te

d
 N

ur
se

60
%

80
%

80
%

60
%

50
%

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

C
G

 –
 D

es
ig

na
te

d
 D

oc
to

r
20

%
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

B
la

ck
p

oo
l T

ea
ch

in
g 

H
os

p
ita

ls
 N

H
S

 F
ou

nd
at

io
n 

Tr
us

t
40

%
40

%
60

%
80

%
60

%

La
nc

as
hi

re
 C

ar
e 

N
H

S
 F

ou
nd

at
io

n 
Tr

us
t

80
%

n/
a

0%
10

0%
n/

a

N
H

S
 E

ng
la

nd
40

%
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

C
um

b
ria

 a
nd

 L
an

ca
sh

ire
 C

om
m

un
ity

 R
eh

ab
ili

ta
tio

n 
C

om
p

an
y

60
%

n/
a

n/
a

40
%

60
%

H
M

 P
ris

on
 a

nd
 P

ro
b

at
io

n 
S

er
vi

ce
80

%
60

%
n/

a
60

%
80

%

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

oa
st

al
 H

ou
si

ng
80

%
10

0%
10

0%
80

%
n/

a

S
ch

oo
ls

65
%

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

80
%

N
S

P
C

C
40

%
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

C
af

ca
ss

60
%

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

B
la

ck
p

oo
l C

ar
er

s 
C

en
tr

e 
(th

ird
 s

ec
to

r 
re

p
re

se
nt

at
iv

e)
80

%
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

Page 56



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 5

Budget

Funding for BSCB continues to be provided by a core group of partners, with some income generated through 
charging for non-attendance at training courses. Increases in contribution from Blackpool Council and 
Lancashire Constabulary are gratefully acknowledged at a time of financial constraint. The contribution of other 
resources ‘in kind’ by the wider partnership is likewise acknowledged and consists of time taken by staff to 
attend and chair meetings, participation in our pool of trainers and the use of buildings for meetings and training.

Income and Expenditure Summary (for the period from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019) 

Income Expenditure

Blackpool Council 106,267 Staff costs 151,844

Blackpool CCG 51,867 Independent Chair 14,504

Lancashire  Constabulary 31,595 Training 7,238

Blackpool Coastal Housing 5,000 Board support costs 14,699

Cumbria and Lancashire CRC 2,565 Serious Case Reviews 12,888

HM Prison and Probation Service 1,710

CAFCASS 550

Training income 1,350

 200,904  201,173

Board staffing costs remain the greatest area of expenditure and have remained stable throughout the reporting period. 
The greatest area of variability within the Board’s budget remains serious case reviews, with the three commissioned 
in early 2019 likely to exceed the budgeted amount for 2019/20. As in previous years, this will be met from reserves.

The LSCB team

The work of BSCB is supported by a small business unit, which is merged with that of BSAB to provide 
additional resilience. The staffing structure has remained the same throughout the reporting period, although 
there have been changes of personnel. The BSCB element of the team consists of:

• A Business Development Manager

• 0.8 Full-time equivalent (FTE) Training Co-ordinators

• 0.95 FTE Democratic Governance Advisors to support meetings

• 0.5 FTE Analyst

• 0.5 FTE Training Administrator

The future

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 replaces LSCBs with Safeguarding Partnerships that are the shared 
responsibility of the local authority, clinical commissioning group and chief officer of police for the area. The revised 
version of Working Together to Safeguard Children, published in July 2018, provided the safeguarding partners 
with the framework and timeframe to implement these arrangements. The three safeguarding partners in Blackpool 
expressed an early desire to explore the potential for shared arrangements that covered the geographical footprint  
of Lancashire Constabulary, bringing together the three local authorities of Blackpool, Blackburn with Darwen and 
Lancashire, together with eight clinical commissioning groups. 

The resulting Safeguarding Children Partnership arrangements were published on the 28th June 2019 and represent 
an ambitious step to achieve consistency of practice and scrutiny across the broader geographical footprint over 
which many of our partner agencies operate. Stephen Ashley has been appointed as Independent Scrutineer to the 
new arrangements, which is a new and distinct role to that of LSCB Independent Chair. The new arrangements, which 
will be known as the Children’s Safeguarding Assurance Partnership (CSAP), will formally come into place on 29th 
September 2019, although it is envisaged that it will take until 31st March 2020 to have structures fully established. 
LSCBs additionally have until 29th September 2020 to conclude existing serious case reviews. The CSAP will 
publish an annual report in 2020 outlining the progress that they have made under these arrangements.

Page 57

https://www.blackpoolsafeguarding.org.uk/assets/uploads/BwD%20BP%20Lancs%20Safeguarding_CDR%20Arrangements%20FINAL%20screen%20June%202019.pdf


BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 6

BLACKPOOL: THE PLACE AND ITS PEOPLE

Blackpool is a seaside town in the north-west of 
England. Its (mid-2017) population of 139,870 people, 
living within an area of just under 13.5 square miles, 
renders it one of the most densely populated areas 
outside London. Transience is a significant feature of 
the town, with 6.2% of the population estimated to 
have moved out of the area in 2017 and the equivalent 
of 6.1% having moved in. According to the 2011 
census, 8% of the population had also moved within 
the town during the past year.

Blackpool experiences considerable levels of 
deprivation, which have increased relatively over recent 
years. The English Indices of Multiple Deprivation (2015) 
record that 38.3% of smaller areas within Blackpool are 
within the most deprived 10% nationwide, while 20.2% 
are within the most deprived 1%. In contrast, no part of 
the town is in the most affluent 20%. The impact of this 
is that 22% of children live in workless households and 
32% in poverty (in a household with an income of less 
than 60% of the median), compared to 20.1% nationally. 
The one area within the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
in which Blackpool ranks amongst the most favourable 
in England is Barriers to Housing and Services, and 
some of this breadth of service provision is reflected 
throughout this report.

There are approximately 28,760 children aged under 
18 resident in Blackpool, making up 20.6% of the 
population. Overall, the 65+ age group is the most 
over-represented in Blackpool and is expected to 
further increase in the forthcoming decade, while the 
child (and overall) population declines. Life expectancy 
for children born in Blackpool between 2015 and 2017 
is estimated to be 74.2 and 79.6 for boys and girls 
respectively, compared with 79.6 and 83.1 nationally. 
Of Blackpool’s school population 12.0% are from a 
minority ethnic group (compared to 32.3% nationally) 
and 3.1% have social, emotional and mental health 
needs (2.4% nationally). Approximately 1,500 children 
moved between schools within Blackpool during the 
2018/19 academic year, which reflects the previously 
noted internal transience. 

Within Blackpool there were 2,132 children in need 
as of 31st March 2019 (2018: 1,807), equating to 
741 per 10,000 of the population (2017: 632). This is 
considerably in excess of both the national average of 
341 and that of our statistical neighbours of 513 (2018 
figures). Put in different terms, in Blackpool, in every 
class of 30 children, two will have a social worker.

Page 58



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 7

SAFEGUARDING IN BLACKPOOL: NEED, 
DEMAND, PRESSURE AND PERFORMANCE

The vast majority of children in Blackpool will grow up to 
be happy and healthy and make a successful transition 
from education into employment and adulthood. 
These children will only ever come into contact with 
universally provided health and education services. 
When it becomes apparent that extra intervention is 
needed to keep a child safe and promote their welfare, 
that decision is based on the pan-Lancashire CON, 
together with the supporting information provided in the 
BSCB Keeping Children Safe in Blackpool document. 
A guiding principle to working with children and families 
who do need extra help is that the minimum level 
of intervention necessary should be provided at the 
earliest possible opportunity. 

BSCB seeks to monitor activity at each stage of the 
safeguarding system to assure itself that interventions 
are effective and that children are kept safe. The 
overall picture is, and has been for some years, 
one of considerably more children in the system, at 
every stage, than would be expected in comparison 
to national averages and our statistical neighbours 
(a comparator group of local authorities with similar 
demographics). Operating a system with significantly 
more children open to intervention than might be 
expected carries with it cost pressures for all partner 
agencies for the additional resources and staffing 
required, but equally raises the more fundamental 
question as to whether the state is intervening in the 
lives of families more than is necessary. Ultimately, 
BSCB’s concern is to be assured that all children who 
require intervention to be kept safe receive it, at the 
earliest possible opportunity. To this end statistical 
neighbour and national comparators can be used as a 
guide to what might be expected, but not a target.

As tends to be the case nationally, the months following 
the Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services saw 
considerable volatility within the safeguarding system 
and a significant increase in the number of contacts and 
referrals to the Front Door of Children’s Services. By 
the end of the overall reporting period there were some 
indications that a degree of stability was returning to the 
system, following a phase of recalibration. 

To enable year-on-year comparisons to be drawn, data 
in this chapter will relate to the 12 months ending the 
31st March 2019, however narrative mention will be 
made of the following three months to capture emerging 
evidence of a more settled system. 

Early Help

Early Help is the level of provision between universal 
services and statutory provision under the Children 
Act. It is expected to be provided by the best-placed 
professional already involved with the family, in 
partnership with whichever other agencies are needed 
to support the family to make the necessary changes. 
BSCB plays a critical role in the co-ordination of work 
to support professionals to provide early help, including 
through the provision of assessment forms and tools. 
The responsibilities of agencies to provide early help 
are suffused throughout our training programme, while 
practical support is provided through the Early Help 
Support Network and Schools’ Twilight meetings. 

A lack of overall data in respect of early help provision 
remains a significant and longstanding gap in our 
understanding of unmet need in Blackpool and 
therefore the effectiveness of the whole system. 
Without knowing how many Early Help Assessments 
are completed or how many children and families are 
receiving early help, the conclusion that high demand 
for statutory services stems from ineffective early help 
provision cannot be discounted. Over recent years 
BSCB has attempted to collect data through request 
and surveys to partner agencies (most recently in 
the Section 175 audit of schools, reported below), 
however returns have been too fragmentary to build 
a complete picture. Until a more structured system is 
put in place this will remain a significant weakness in 
our understanding of the overall safeguarding system. 
At the close of the reporting period an Early Help and 
Neglect Task and Finish Group had been established 
to review the partnership’s overall early help response, 
including how to capture data.

Page 59

https://www.blackpoolsafeguarding.org.uk/assets/uploads/Keeping%20Children%20Safe%20in%20Blackpool%20FINAL%20screen%20version.pdf


BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 8

Referrals and assessments for statutory services

Our last annual report noted a significant reduction in the number of contacts to the Children’s Services 
Front Door (a contact can include anything from an urgent request for child protection action to requests for 
information from other agencies). This was primarily due to the diversion of standard risk Police Protecting 
Vulnerable Person referrals to an Early Help Hub, which also provided advice and support to partners working 
with children and families at an early help level (this was replaced with a re-modelled advice line staffed by social 
workers, shortly after the end of the reporting period). This reduction in contacts was maintained until November, 
before picking up again in the months after the Ofsted inspection, producing an annual figure of 7,522 during the 
year ending 31st March 2019 (2018: 9,746; 2017: 12,494). 

This spike in contacts peaked in March 2019 before reducing back to a level slightly higher than seen prior to 
the inspection, but lower than in preceding years. In contrast, taken over a year, the number of referrals for 
Children’s Social Care intervention increased to 2,883 (2018: 2,603), with a similar spike recorded toward the end 
of the year. This was due to an increase in the conversion rate from contact to referral to 38.3% (2018: 27.0%). 
An increased conversion rate can be viewed as positive both in terms of partner agencies correctly identifying 
children who require a statutory response and in reducing the overall volume of work within the Front Door, 
thereby allowing proper focus on the cases most in need of intervention. That said, the proportion of referrals 
that result in no further action, following a Child and Family Assessment (CAFA), remains high at 34.9% (2018: 
35.6%) compared to our statistical neighbours (22.0%) and nationally (29.0%) . This peaked at 48% during April 
and May 2019, indicating that a higher proportion of the referrals made during the early part of the year did not 
require statutory intervention, and potentially reflected an increased nervousness amongst partner agencies and 
Front Door practitioners that opportunities to intervene should not be missed after the inspection. Given that 
the number of contacts and referrals has started to settle, it is anticipated that the proportion of cases that do 
require intervention following assessment will start to increase over the summer period. 

Where there are indicators that a child has been, or is at risk of being, significantly harmed the referral will trigger 
a section 47 enquiry. The rate of section 47 enquiries undertaken in Blackpool has historically been the most 
disproportionately high indicator. The rate (number completed per 10,000 child population) rose in 2018/19 to 
507.3 (2018: 487.0) and while this remains below levels seen prior to 2017, it remains well in excess of statistical 
neighbour (265.0) and national (167.0) rates. Again there was evidence of a settling in the system following 
the year end and the rate seen in May 2019, if maintained, would equate to an annual rate of around 410. The 
proportion of section 47 enquiries resulting in Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC) slightly increased to 
35.8% (2018: 33.5%), but remains below comparators (statistical neighbours: 37.7%; England 40.1%), suggesting 
that some section 47 enquiries are being triggered unnecessarily. At 94.6% of ICPC, a decision was made to 
place the child on a child protection plan (England: 87.6%), which raises questions concerning the effectiveness 
of conferences as a forum for multi-agency scrutiny, discussion and challenge.

1000

800

600

400

200

0
Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Contacts to the Front Door

Referrals

Front Door activity

Page 60



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 9

Children in Need

In a continuation of the trajectory seen in 2017/18, the overall number of children in need reduced during the 
eight months prior to the inspection, before climbing sharply in the subsequent four months to a year end 
figure of 2,144 (2018: 1,807), which represents the highest ever in Blackpool. Broadly speaking, this cohort is 
made up of those open for assessment following referral, children subject to section 17 child in need plans, 
child protection plans, and looked after children. While the numbers within each category has fluctuated, the 
proportion of children at the ‘top end’ of the system on child protection plans or looked after has remained 
fairly constant, only increasing slightly during the 12 months to 31st March 2019 from 44.7% to 45.5%. This is 
somewhat out of line with what is seen in our statistical neighbours (35%) and nationally though and indicates a 
tendency toward escalation in Blackpool, with more families higher up the CON than would typically be the case 
in other similar areas.

A significant factor in this increase has been the rise in the number of children subject to child protection plans 
(CPP). From a starting point of 275 on the 1st April 2018 the number continued to decline to 257 in July, before 
increasing to 399 by the 31st March (and reaching a subsequent peak of 448 following the end of the reporting 
period). This pattern stands in contrast to data indicators in respect of referral activity and overall numbers of 
children in need that reached their low point in November, immediately prior to the inspection. Three broad 
factors are at play in accounting for this pattern: firstly, a high rate of CPP ending prior to July 2018, which 
corresponded to a period in 2016/17 with a high rate of CPP commencements; secondly, the rate of children 
becoming subject to a CPP increased from a low of 122 during early 2018, to 155 in November and to 190 
following the inspection (all annualised rates per 10,000 child population); finally, the rate of plans ending fell 
from 200 in mid-2018 to 125 in October and 112 in February. This reduction in the number of children ceasing 
to become subject to a CPP has occurred exclusively amongst those being stepped down to lower levels of 
intervention, through either section 17 child in need or early help plans, with the number of children exiting a 
CPP to become looked after remaining steady. This is seemingly indicative of increasingly conservative decision 
making brought on by a lack of confidence in making judgements about thresholds and the effectiveness of 
interventions, following the inspection. In order to increase confidence in step down processes from CPP, from 
the summer of 2019 CP conference chairs will chair the first meeting under a section 17 Child in Need (CIN) or 
early help plan. A tapering off in the rate of children becoming subject to a CPP is also expected in light of the 
more recent reduction in the number of referrals, however the foregoing analysis demonstrates that the current 
bulge in the number of children subject to a CPP will take one to two years to stabilise. 

986 950 992 970 928
843 782 764

875
965

1080
1177

261 274 270 257 279
302 309 313

332
346

378
399540 543 559 566 554 552 558 554

564
560

567
568

1000

800

600

400

200

0

 Looked After Children      Child Protection Plans      All other CIN

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Children in Need

Page 61



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 10

In contrast, the number of Looked After Children has remained more stable throughout the period, only 
increasing from 533 to 568 during the 12 months to the 31st March 2019. This increase is due to a reduction in 
the number of children ceasing to be looked after in the year, which fell to 167 (2018: 207). A high proportion of 
those leaving care did so on attaining the age of 18, with younger children leaving care for other reasons (e.g. 
returning to their family) showing more marked reduction than the overall figure would indicate. This reduction in 
children leaving care was mitigated by reducing numbers of children becoming looked after which, at 198, was 
the lowest number since 2014/15. There has equally been little, if any, discernible rise in the number of children 
becoming looked after since the inspection.

Notwithstanding the volatility in the system around the year end, it remains the case that the number of children 
in receipt of statutory intervention remains well in excess of those seen elsewhere in the country. While there is 
an accepted correlation between more deprived areas and higher numbers of children requiring safeguarding, 
the rates in Blackpool remain well in excess of those seen in the most comparable local authorities, and have 
markedly diverged from these since 2007 in the case of looked after children and 2010 for child protection plans. 
In order to address the high rate of children subject to CPP the Child Protection Standards Pathway, which was 
introduced by BSCB in the spring of 2019 after consultation with partner agencies, provides oversight from the 
Child Protection Chair Team Manager from the point that a Section 47 enquiry is started, to ensure that the 
right plan for the child is pursued. By introducing earlier oversight from a CP chair, greater scrutiny will also be 
provided to the timeliness and production of reports for the ICPC.

Rate per 10,000 child 
population of

Blackpool (2019) England (2018) SN (2018)

Child in Need (all) 741 341 513

Child Protection Plan 140 45 67

Looked After Child 198 64 112

Characteristics of children subject to child protection plans

It is a statutory requirement that all child protection plans record one, or more, categories of abuse which, when 
viewed as a whole, enable an understanding of the changing risks that children face. After a number of years of 
making a disproportionately high number of children subject to CPP in multiple categories, Blackpool phased out 
this practice completely during the course of 2018, which skews year on year comparisons:

Child protection plans by category of abuse

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
Neglect Physical abuse Sexual abuse Emotional abuse Multiple categories

 Blackpool (31st March 2019)      Blackpool (31st March 2018)      England (31st March 2018)

Page 62



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 11

The year on year changes evident above in Blackpool’s 
profile would suggest that the majority of CPP plan 
previously made under multiple categories are now 
recorded as being emotional abuse. However, the year 
end figures serve to hide an in year reduction, then 
significant increase since January 2019 in the number 
of plans being made under the category of neglect. 
This may reflect the critique of Blackpool’s response to 
neglect included within the Ofsted inspection report, 
together with the rising national prominence of the 
issue of neglect in older children. While comparisons 
with national data require a degree of caution due 
to local circumstances (for example, it is known that 
domestic abuse rates are higher in Blackpool than 
elsewhere in Lancashire, which will potentially result 
in more children becoming subject to a CPP on this 
basis), the low number of plans under the category 
of physical abuse does warrant further investigation. 
That said, BSCB’s review and audit activity has not 
identified any significant issues in terms of decision 
making in respect of the category of plan. 

The Ofsted inspection report raised concerns in 
respect of children subject to CPP experiencing 
drift and delay in the delivery of their plan and 
any necessary escalation. This issue was similarly 
highlighted in a multi-agency learning review in respect 
of a sibling group of six, the eldest of whom had been 
subject to a CPP for over five years, where there was 
little discernible evidence of either positive change or 
escalation. Broader data in this respect indicates that 
Blackpool has a lower proportion of children subject 
to CPP for between 1 and 2 years (9.7%, compared 
to 14.4% nationally), but more over two years (3.2% 
compared to 1.8%). The newly introduced Child 
Protection Standards Pathway provides for a peer 
reflection meeting for the core group when a CP plan 
is open for longer than 14 months, chaired by the 
CP Chairs’ Team Manager. This will provide the core 
group with the time and space to reflect on progress 
and options for the family. 

At the other end of the spectrum, 30.4% of CPP in 
2018/19 ended at their first review after three months, 
compared to 20.0% nationally. Of the 113 children that 
this represents: 55 became looked after, 13 moved 
out of Blackpool, 31 were stepped down to section 
17 CIN plans and 14 were stepped down to early help 
or universal services. This was clearly a justifiable 
decision for those who became looked after or moved 
out of Blackpool. However, the number stepping down 
to lower tier services suggests either that some CPP 
were not required in the first place, or that plans are 
being ended prematurely, before interventions have 
had time to effect long term change. The latter factor 
was seen to be the case in one multi-agency learning 
review relating to two young children who were subject 
to two child protection plans in an 18 month period. 

The decision making to end the first plan was found 
to have been based on the process of delivering and 
completing interventions, as opposed to evidence of 
their outcome. 

A further indication that this is a broader based issue 
is provided by data that 25.5% of plans are being 
implemented on the same child for a second or 
subsequent time, compared to 20.0% nationally. The 
Blackpool rate has consistently risen since 2014-15, 
when it stood at 18.5%. Of the 124 children who were 
made subject to a plan for a second or subsequent 
time, 37% had been subject to a CPP within the 
previous 12 months and for 27% the duration of that 
plan had been under three months. The predominant 
theme for these children was being made subject to 
a plan on the grounds of domestic abuse, with the 
previous plan having ended on the basis that the 
parents were no longer in a relationship. A secondary 
theme was for plans made due to neglect underpinned 
by poor parental mental health or alcohol use. The 
Child Protection Standards Pathway ensures that 
CPP will not be ended at the first review other than 
in specific circumstances, with the chair challenging 
any such proposal from the core group prior to the 
conference. This has already resulted in a reduction in 
the proportion of CPP ending in under three months to 
19% during the first quarter of 2019/20. 

We can say with a greater degree of certainty that 
the age range of children subject to CPP coincides 
with that expected nationally, as indicated below. 
However, relatively small changes in the proportion 
of each age range subject to a CPP plan hides the 
fact that the previously noted increase in the overall 
cohort has come almost exclusively from the 5 – 15 
year old age range and is most concentrated amongst 
the 5 – 9 year old cohort. While this may reflect a 
welcome increased understanding of the impact of 
neglect in older children, given concerns in practice 
regarding unborn children, noted in Chapter 5 below, 
it is of concern that this cohort has reduced during the 
year. Over the next year the number of CPP for older 
children is expected to decrease as a consequence 
of the child exploitation pathway (Chapter 5, below), 
which will place children solely at risk of abuse outside 
the family environment in section 17 CIN plans, with a 
Child Missing, Exploited or Trafficked (CMET) plan. 

Page 63



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 12

Age of children subject to child 
protection plan at year end

Blackpool 
2018/19

Blackpool  
2017/18

Blackpool 
2018/19

Blackpool  
2017/18

Number Proportion

Unborn 5 8 1.2% 2.1%

Under 1 year 42 31 10.5% 9.3%

1 – 4 years 109 72 27.2% 25.6%

5 – 9 years 126 73 31.4% 29.5%

10 – 15 years 108 83 26.9% 9.4%

16 – 17 years 11 11 2.7% 4.1%

There remains a slightly higher number of boys subject to child protection plans (51.4%; 2018: 53.6%), which is 
reflected nationally, although this has tended to fluctuate (in Blackpool) over the longer term. Just under 90% of 
children subject to CPP are White British, which reflects the overall population. Of the 399 children subject to a 
CPP on the 31st March 2019, only six were recorded to have a disability. Further work is needed to determine if 
this represents a failure to consistently record disabilities or a more fundamental issue.

Performance

Given the twin pressures of increasing numbers of children within the safeguarding system, together with the 
ongoing challenge of recruiting and retaining social workers, it is unsurprising that some performance indicators 
have weakened. This is an area in which Blackpool has typically compared favourably and will therefore continue 
to be closely monitored. That said, performance in respect of adoption remains strong.

Blackpool Blackpool 
2018/19

Blackpool  
2017/18

Blackpool 
2018/19

Blackpool  
2017/18

Child and Family Assessments 
completed within 45 working days

77.4% 78.1% 83.0% 78.0%

ICPC held within 15 working days of the 
start of the s47 enquiry

89.3% 93.6% 77.0% 79.0%

Proportion of children ceasing to be 
looked after who were adopted in the year

17.4% 17.4% 13.0% 19.0%

Proportion of children ceasing to be 
looked after who were subject to Special 
Guardianship Order in the year

20.4% 21.3% 11.0% 10.0%

Average number of days between Court 
decision and adoption placement match

432 505 486 469

Page 64



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 13

Other safeguarding indicators

There is less data available in respect of the demands of safeguarding work in other agencies, although the 
children, at each stage of the system noted above, do require a multi-agency response to ensure that they are 
safe. More generally, we know that  children and young adults in Blackpool are more likely to be admitted to 
hospital as a consequence of mental health conditions, alcohol use, substance misuse, or self-harm, and that 
the rate in the latter two categories is the highest nationally (although the most recently available data relates 
to 2017-18). This area has been subject to long standing BSCB monitoring and challenge and while we do 
understand that admissions practices in our acute hospital trust have played a part, it does remain an area of 
concern. It is therefore encouraging to note reduced admissions in respect of self-harm which is, in part, due to 
the success of the Child and Adolescent Support and Help Emergency Response service (CASHER).

Rate of hospital admissions per 
100,000 population 

Blackpool 
2017/18

Blackpool  
2016/17

England 
2017/18

As a result of self-harm (10-24 year olds) 1009.6 1,156.8 421.2

Due to mental health conditions (0-17 year olds) 184.3 188.8 84.7

Due to substance misuse (15-24 year olds) 329.3 339.0 87.9

Due to alcohol misuse (under 18 year olds) 67.3 74.3 32.9

Managing allegations against staff

Working Together requires organisations and agencies 
working with children and families to have clear 
policies for dealing with allegations against people 
who work with children. Allegations are distinct from 
complaints or concerns and relate to situations in 
which a person who works with children has: 

• Behaved in a way that has harmed a 
child, or may have harmed a child

• Possibly committed a criminal offence 
against or related to a child

• Behaved towards a child or children in a way that 
indicates they may pose a risk of harm to children.

Upper tier local authorities are required  to ensure that 
responses to allegations are co-ordinated with activity 
to safeguard involved children and to have in place a 
designated officer (colloquially known by their old title 
as a LADO) to be involved in the management and 
oversight of allegations. In Blackpool, for the majority 
of the reporting period, the role of the designated 
officer was combined with the equivalent role for 
allegations against practitioners who work with adults, 
however it has now been disaggregated and is be held 
by a specialist children’s practitioner.

Organisations are required to report allegations to the 
designated officer within one day of them being made. 
The designated officer, in turn, is expected to provide 
advice and guidance to employers and voluntary 
organisations as to how to deal effectively with 
allegations and ensure that appropriate links are made 
to related police investigations. Effective investigations 
would be thorough and fair, but also timely. 

During the reporting period the designated officer 
received 121 contacts (2018: 79), of which 55 triggered 
a full response (2018: 60). This conversion rate of 45.5% 
is comparable to that of our regional peers, despite the 
reduction from the previous reporting period. Allegations 
are reported by the agency that identifies the alleged 
behaviour of concern and not necessarily the employer 
of the individual. Consequently, while the highest number 
of allegations were received from the social care (36) 
and education (32) sectors, the highest sectors of 
employment for the alleged perpetrator were education 
(42), residential (20) and foster carers (13). After a number 
of years in which a low number of referrals in respect of 
health practitioners was remarked upon, this increased 
from 2 to 10 in the reporting period. 

The designated officer has previously been unable to 
report any data other than number and source of referral. 
During the reporting period more data points have 
started to be collected, which will allow further analysis 
of trends in subsequent annual reports. Consequently, 
we are now able to report that, of the 121 contacts, 48 
related to physical abuse, 41 to a risk of harm or act of 
omission, and 17 to sexual abuse. Of the 55 allegations 
that triggered a full response, 50 were concluded by 
the year end. In 13 the allegation was found to be 
unsubstantiated, in 19 it was partly substantiated and 
in 18 it was substantiated. Substantiated or partly 
substantiated allegations can result in prosecution (1), 
dismissal (9) or disciplinary procedures (9), although the 
most common outcome, across all conclusions, is that a 
training need is identified (16).

Working Together sets target timescales for 80% of 
cases to be resolved in less than a month and 90% 
within three months. The figures of 32% and 52%, 
respectively, demonstrate a need for a significant 
improvement in the timeliness of processes in Blackpool.  

Page 65



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 14

INSPECTIONS

The latter part of the reporting period has been 
dominated by inspection activity, with the majority of 
statutory board partners having received some form 
of regulatory inspection during the reporting period. 
Some have carried uncomfortable messages both for 
single agencies and the partnership, and BSCB has 
continued to hold agencies to account to respond to 
safeguarding elements of their inspections. Equally, 
BSCB will ensure that issues with multi-agency 
working are addressed and that agencies receive 
the necessary support from the partnership to make 
expected changes. 

Perhaps most significantly for BSCB, the Ofsted 
Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services in 
December 2018 returned an overall rating of inadequate. 
Strategic partnerships were judged not to have 
addressed key weaknesses, including chronic neglect, 
effectively. Equally, the support and commitment of 
some partners for Children’s Services was noted to 
be weak, with attendance at BSCB and the Children’s 
Improvement Board noted to be “challenging”.

This judgement has resulted in the adoption of a formal 
memorandum of understanding between BSCB and the 
Children’s Improvement Board (subsequently renamed 
the Getting to Good Board), which outlines respective 
areas of responsibility and provides for the delegation 
of partnership elements of the improvement plan to 
BSCB. The BSCB Independent Chair is a member of 
the Getting to Good Board and meets regularly with 
its Chair to ensure a co-ordinated response. Early 
changes made in response to the inspection include 
BSCB’s adoption of a Child Protection Standards 
Pathway and Issues Resolution Protocol both of which 
are designed to support practitioners to move forward 
child protection plans at risk of drift and delay, and to 
challenge other agencies when this is not done. At the 
time of writing Children’s Services are in the process of 
agreeing an internal Neglect strategy, while BSCB is in 
the process of reviewing its partnership neglect strategy 
to address concerns raised in the inspection report that 
neglect is not identified or addressed in a sufficiently 
timely manner.

Following the conclusion of the reporting period, the 
Department for Education appointed commissioner 
reported that Blackpool Council was in a position to 
make the expected improvements and maintain control 
of its Children’s Services, subject to further monitoring 
visits. This will provide an additional layer of scrutiny to 
the routine Ofsted monitoring visits that commenced in 
August 2019.  

Throughout the period under review BSCB has 
monitored and supported Lancashire Constabulary to 
make changes in light of their HMICFRS National Child 
Protection Inspection. This has included the provision 
of support for their training an audit programmes. 

A Post-Inspection Review undertaken in December 
2018 highlighted significant progress made in 
changing the culture of the organisation to one in 
which officers understood their responsibility to see 
the child in all situations. Given the success of their 
vulnerability training programme, opportunities are 
being explored to make this available on a broader 
basis through LSCB training units.

During the reporting period, BSCB has also reviewed 
the safeguarding elements of inspection reports and 
actions plans in respect of the multi-agency Youth 
Offending Team, Cumbria and Lancashire Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CLCRC), National Probation 
Service, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals, Horizon (our 
substance misuse service provider for adults over 25) 
and Highfield Leadership Academy.

During the 2018/19 academic year 9 Blackpool 
schools have been inspected with 1 being graded 
as outstanding, 5 as good, 2 requiring improvement 
and 1 inadequate. Only the latter received negative 
comments in terms of safeguarding. As of the 30th 
June 2019, 21 early years settings in Blackpool were 
graded as outstanding, 59 as good, 1 as requiring 
improvement to be good and 2 inadequate. 

Page 66



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 15

WHAT WE HAVE DONE THIS YEAR

Ensure continuity, clear governance 
and strategic arrangements during the 
transition period

BSCB has been determined not to let the forthcoming 
changes to multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 
hinder its ongoing task of ensuring that work to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children is co-
ordinated and effective. The following are examples 
of ongoing work that we have delivered during the 
reporting period, with an increasing emphasis on 
working on a joined up basis with our colleagues in 
Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire. 

Early Help

BSCB Strategic Board members agreed a new Early 
Intervention and Prevention Strategy in October 2018. 
The strategy seeks to ensure that children and families 
in Blackpool receive a consistent early help offer that is 
delivered by a well-equipped and confident workforce. 
A whole family approach is central to this offer, with 
co-located services provided from easily accessible 
locations in the community. An Early Help and Neglect 
task and finish group, formed toward the end of the 
reporting period, will be responsible for the delivery of 
the strategy. Its initial task will be to develop a shared 
early help model that underpins how all agencies work 
with children and families. This will be allied to an 
agreed model of practice for Children’s Services that 
will ensure that children and families are supported 
according to the same principles, irrespective of where 
they sit on the CON. Further support will be provided 
for practitioners providing early help to children and 
families through the provision of an advice and support 
line, staffed by social workers. This was launched 
immediately following the end of the reporting period.

BSCB continued to support practitioners through 
its Early Help Support Network, which is open to 
professionals from any agency that delivers early help 
to children and families. Meetings during the reporting 
period were attended by a range of school, health, 
police, probation and third sector representatives and 
included presentations from services available for 
children and families and opportunities to share good 
practice and problem solve. Early Help Support Network 
members also act as a point of reference and expertise 
within their own agency to promote good practice.

Neglect

BSCB adopted a three-year neglect strategy in 2016, 
as part of which it launched a bespoke suite of neglect 
evaluation tools, including the Graded Care Profile 2 
(GCP2). To date, over 400 practitioners have attended 
neglect evaluation tool training, which represents 
a significant proportion of the Blackpool children’s 
workforce. More recently, BSCB has sought to 
understand the impact of this element of the strategy, 
with somewhat disappointing results. A number of 
recent reviews (the Child BY serious case review (SCR) 
and three multi-agency learning panels, reported below) 
have considered children who were neglected over 
sustained periods. These cases were characterised by 
varying levels of drift and delay and in none was there 
any evidence of the use of any of the neglect evaluation 
tools. This was disappointing given that repeated use of 
the tools would have enabled professionals to evidence 
levels of neglect and progress made under the plans 
(equally, this also indicated that agencies were not 
adhering to the agreed protocol for the use of the tools). 
BSCB subsequently undertook a survey of GCP2 trained 
professionals and a separate survey of school based 
professionals. Both suggested that GCP2 was only used 
by around half of trained professionals and that only a 
small minority of this group use the tool regularly (this 
coincides with national NSPCC research as to its use).

Page 67



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 16

Concerns raised by Ofsted in their inspection of 
Blackpool Council Children’s Services were similar 
to those identified in the BSCB reviews noted above, 
in that children were seen to live with neglect for 
overly long periods, while older children’s behaviour 
was not framed in terms of the neglect that they had 
experienced. BSCB has subsequently undertaken 
consultations with both board members and a 
representative group of professionals to inform 
the development of a successor strategy. These 
consultations emphasised the need for an early 
and consistent response to neglect by all agencies, 
but also the need for a culture where neglect is not 
accepted and families and professionals have high 
aspirations for the children of Blackpool. Partner 
agencies have also requested that we explore the 
potential for shared assessment tools with colleagues 
in Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire. Work to 
develop the next stage of our response to neglect 
is being undertaken by the previously mentioned 
Early Help and Neglect task and finish group and 
remains ongoing at the end of the review period, while 
Blackpool Council Children’s Services are also in the 
process of developing an internal neglect strategy.

Sudden Unexplained Deaths in Childhood 
service (SUDC)

Working Together requires that LSCBs ensure that a 
multi-agency rapid response process is in place to 
review the circumstances of any unexpected death 
of a child. Multi-agency colleagues work together to 
share information to ensure a thorough investigation (of 
whatever type is required), that the bereavement needs 
of the family are met and that lessons are learned from 
the death wherever possible. The pan-Lancashire SUDC 
service is provided by Lancashire Care NHS Foundation 
Trust (LCFT) and consists of three dedicated nurses who 
work in conjunction with multi-agency partners, including 
children’s services, acute hospital trusts, primary care 

providers, Lancashire Constabulary and North West 
Ambulance Service. The service responded to 48 deaths 
during the year to 31st March 2019, which is consistent 
with expectations.

We reported in our last annual report that an external 
review of the SUDC service had been undertaken, by 
a Public Health registrar, to assess its conformity with 
Working Together and the strengths and weaknesses 
of the current model. The review concluded that 
the nurse led response, within working hours, was 
effective and generally ran smoothly, but that the 
out of hours response, which disproportionately 
relied on the on-call acute paediatrician, was not of 
sufficient quality. The quality of this initial response 
was assessed to be critical due to the influence that 
it has on the ensuing process. While the demand on 
the service in terms of the timing of deaths fluctuates, 
as many as two thirds of deaths in a given period 
can be outside office hours and therefore receive a 
lower standard response. The report was endorsed 
by the three pan-Lancashire LSCBs and the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCG) responsible for 
commissioning the service were asked to review the 
identified options for expansion. A seven day service, 
with increased hours on weekdays, was consequently 
introduced from the 31st December 2018 and has 
provided a full nurse-led response to six deaths that 
would have previously not received one.

November 2018 also marked the tenth anniversary 
of the start of the SUDC services. BSCB, together 
with our Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire 
colleagues, expressed our appreciation to all who 
had been involved in the service’s development and 
delivery at an event to mark their achievement. The 
successful delivery of the service over a sustained 
period, together with its recent expansion, has also 
been acknowledged by its inclusion in the NHS 
England Atlas of Shared Learning.

Page 68



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 17

Operation Encompass

Lancashire Constabulary have provided schools 
and other partner agencies with feedback about 
domestic abuse incidents to which they are called for 
a number of years to date through the submission of 
Protecting Vulnerable Persons referrals Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH). However, information 
sharing processes have been slower than would be 
wanted, particularly for standard and medium risk 
incidents. This has meant that schools could have 
children arriving in the morning who had experienced 
a domestic abuse incident the previous night of which 
they were unaware and are therefore unable to put in 
place an appropriate package of care.

In order to address this BSCB, together with our 
colleagues in Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire, 
has worked with police and school colleagues to 
put in place a system by which schools will directly 
receive information about all domestic abuse incidents 
involving their children prior to 8:30am each morning. 
This has been made possible by the adoption of new 
electronic systems for police officers, while the three 
LSCB have provided training to all Blackpool schools 
in the process and their expected response. Schools 
have been encouraged to take a trauma-informed 
approach to managing children’s behaviour after 
domestic abuse incidents to understand that their 
presenting behaviour might reflect their experiences 
and need to be managed differently. Operation 
Encompass went live in May 2018 and its roll out will 
be evaluated in forthcoming months.

Schools

Schools, by virtue of the sustained level of contact 
that they have with all children, are uniquely placed 
to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 
BSCB has prioritised engagement with schools 
for a lengthy period now and during the reporting 
period continued to hold termly twilight meetings 
for Designated Safeguarding Leads, which provide 
updates on legislation and policy changes, inputs from 
partner agencies and more detailed consideration 
of specific issues. During the reporting period a new 
Schools’ Safeguarding Advisor has been appointed 
by Blackpool Council. He works closely with schools 
to support their safeguarding practice and to ensure 
that they are meeting their statutory duties. BSCB 
supports this scrutiny through the annual section 
175 audit programme. This audit, of compliance with 
the statutory safeguarding requirements enacted in 
section 175 of the Education Act, was completed by 
40 of Blackpool’s 46 schools and colleges. The audit 
is a self-evaluation, so not otherwise triangulated, 
and indicated that schools generally have appropriate 
structures, policies and training in place. By updating 
expectations each year, BSCB is able to ensure that 
schools continue to develop practice and this year’s 
return has promoted the delivery of training on peer-
on-peer abuse in schools. The audit also identified a 
number of schools where the Designated Safeguarding 
Lead is not receiving professional supervision, which 
the Schools’ Safeguarding Advisor will address.

At a Strategic Board level, BSCB has held its 
counterparts in the Blackpool School Improvement 
Board to account throughout the year in respect of 
exclusions and the use of alternative provision. This 
has been identified as a significant safeguarding 
issue due to the increased vulnerability of children 
who are either not in school or receiving part-time 
provision. 50 pupils had been permanently excluded 
from Blackpool schools, together with a further 
11 Blackpool children from schools in other local 
authorities, during the 2018/19 academic year, up 
to 30th June. This represents a slight increase on 
the previous year, although this increase relates to 
one school which is being appropriately challenged 
and supported. At the same date 272 children were 
electively home educated, representing 1.5% of the 
school population. This has increased from 207 (1.1%) 
during the reporting period and mirrors increases 
seen nationally. While the majority of electively home 
educated children will receive appropriate good 
quality schooling, they are of a greater concern from 
a safeguarding perspective due to the lack of contact 
that they may have with professional agencies.  

Page 69



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 18

Develop a joined up multi-agency 
learning and outcomes framework

Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board is a learning 
organisation. It therefore seeks to review the work of 
agencies, both individually and as a partnership, to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Learning 
and actions taken as a result of reviews and audits is 
collated in the Learning and Improvement Framework 
(LIF) which allows for the identification of themes and 
trends that can be utilised to inform further activity.

The approach enables BSCB to investigate, better 
understand and respond to the safeguarding 
environment in Blackpool. For example, the Child CA 
SCR identified issues in the safeguarding of babies prior 
to birth and the impact of transience. The Multi-Agency 
Audit Group (MAAG) subsequently undertook wider 
scale audits of both of these issues, finding broader 
concerns in terms of the safeguarding of babies, 
but that practitioners are generally well equipped to 
manage transient families. This learning will lead to 
system changes and be disseminated to practitioners 
through the publication of SCR, our training offer and in 
written briefings. On other occasions, learning activity 
can arise from an identified need to understand an 
area of practice more fully as a consequence of local 
or national priorities. This was the case with the audit 
and subsequent multi-professional discussion forum 
that we undertook in respect of child exploitation that 
has resulted in significant system changes and the 
commissioning of a new training offer.

During the reporting period BSCB expanded its LIF 
activities to include multi-agency learning panels and 
multi-professional discussion forums, the outcomes of 
which are reported below.  

Case reviews

LSCBs are required to undertake a serious case review 
when abuse or neglect is known or suspected and 
either a child dies, or is seriously harmed and there 
is cause for concern as to the way that professionals 
have worked together to safeguard the child. SCR 
should establish what happened and why, and whether 
there are lessons to be learned from the case about 
the way in which local professionals and organisations 
work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children. LSCB are required to publish SCRs and their 
response to the findings. 

BSCB continued to manage high levels of SCR activity, 
relative to its size, throughout the reporting period. By 
the end of the reporting period we had commissioned 
11 SCRs in the past five years, which equates to 7.6 
per 100,000 child population annually, compared 
to a national average of 0.97 (based on SCRs 
commissioned between 2011 and 2014). 

The Multi-Agency Learning Panel (MALP), noted above, 
is a means of quick review that BSCB has introduced, 
for cases that fall below the SCR threshold. The agreed 
criteria for a MALP is “Cases [that] involve incidents 
where a child has been harmed or where there has been 
a near miss and there are concerns about multi-agency 
practice; or involve incidents where multi-agency practice 
is considered to be good (after a child has been harmed, 
a near miss, or a child has been prevented from being 
harmed) and agencies seek to identify the characteristics 
and enablers of that good multi-agency practice. A 
primary characteristic of all cases selected for multi-
agency learning reviews will be the likelihood learning 
from the case that is applicable to wider practice.”

MALP consist of a one-off meeting with practitioners 
involved in a case to discuss the strengths and 
weaknesses of multi-agency interventions (based 
on the chronology compiled for the referral 
consideration process), after which a brief report with 
recommendations is compiled.

Page 70



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 19

The period in numbers

SCR MALP

Reviews underway or agreed at 1st April 2018 4 3

Referrals received during the reporting period 3 6

Reviews agreed 3 5

Referrals resulting in no further action 0 1

Reviews completed during the reporting period 4 7

Reviews ongoing at 30th June 2019 3 1

During the reporting period, BSCB also provided 
information in respect of the involvement of Blackpool 
agencies with six children and families subject to SCR 
in other LSCB areas. The findings of these SCR will 
be reviewed by BSCB to ensure that any learning for 
Blackpool agencies is realised. 

Of the outstanding reviews, the MALP will take place 
over the autumn of 2019, while the three SCR are 
projected to be finalised prior to the end of 2019, 
subject to the resolution of outstanding criminal 
investigations that may delay our ability to speak to 
involved practitioners and family members.

During the reporting period BSCB published 
four SCR:

Child CA

What happened?

Child CA was a baby who sadly died at the age of 
four months. The cause of death was reported to be 
unascertained and the police investigation found no 
evidence that either parent was responsible. Child 
CA’s parents had 15 older children between them, 
the majority of whom had been taken into the care 
of the local authority due to concerns in respect of 
neglect, alcohol use, domestic abuse and parental 
mental health. Mum and dad moved to Blackpool 
midway through the pregnancy, despite having no 
obvious connection to the town. 

A referral to Blackpool children’s services was made 
by their counterparts in the originating area. Once 
in Blackpool mum was appropriately supported 
by the social and complex needs midwifery team, 
however there were delays in the children’s services’ 
assessment and little evidence of a co-ordinated 
multi-agency response prior to birth. These delays 
resulted in the initial child protection conference and 
a legal planning meeting taking place after Child 
CA’s (premature) birth. Child CA was discharged 
from hospital immediately prior to Christmas and 
received expected midwifery and health visitor visits, 
including safer sleep messages. After the legal 
planning meeting near daily visits were undertaken 
by the Families in Need team. The families flat was 
noted to be very warm and communal areas smelt of 
cannabis. The Plan remained in place at review child 
protection conference, although the overall picture 
was positive and the emphasis was on monitoring to 
ensure that changes were maintained. Child CA died 
a month later.

What did it tell us?

The report concluded that the death of Child CA, 
from natural causes, could not have been predicted 
or prevented, but that the multi-agency safeguarding 
response should have been delivered with a 
greater degree of urgency. While the delays were in 
children’s social care processes, no other agency 
escalated their concerns, meaning that information 
was not shared, or a multi-agency plan put in 
place, until after Child CA had been born. The child 
protection plan was judged to be not of a sufficient 
standard, although the level of intervention following 
management oversight at the legal planning meeting 
was as would be expected. 

The report made recommendations that BSCB 
should seek assurance that agencies have systems 
to manage families moving into Blackpool, that the 
pre-birth protocol is being properly applied, that 
child protection assessments and plans are timely 
and of a good standard and that practitioners 
receive regular supervision.

Page 71



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 20

What have we done?

BSCB has challenged partner agencies to provide 
evidence that they provide regular supervision to 
their practitioners through the Quality Assurance 
and Performance Monitoring process. Children’s 
services are now able to evidence their compliance 
with expected levels of supervision, which was not 
the case at the time of the review. All children’s 
services audits now consider the quality of the child 
protection plan, while the Risk Sensible training 
that BSCB has delivered in the reporting period has 
provided a framework for practitioners to develop 
better quality plans. Expectations of practitioners 
during the pre-birth period have been promoted 
through the publication of a seven-minute briefing, 
while children’s services developed a more detailed 
internal protocol. Finally, the wider response to 
transience and the safeguarding of babies prior 
to birth was the subject of multi-agency audits 
and multi-professional discussion forums that are 
reported below.

Child BY

What happened?

Child BY was a three month old twin who received 
significant head injuries, but is fortunately expected 
to make a good recovery. The injuries, which 
occurred while Child BY was in mum’s care, were 
treated as non-accidental, although criminal charges 
were not laid. There was a lengthy history of 
concerns in respect of neglect, domestic abuse and 
dad’s wider criminality, linked to his drug and alcohol 
use. The domestic abuse was serious, involving 
assaults, threats to kill and the use of weapons. 
Child BY’s elder two siblings had been subject to a 
child protection plan for over a year at the time of the 
incident, with the twins added in the months before 
their birth.  

Mum lived with domestic abuse and parental alcohol 
use as a child and started her relationship with 
dad when she was 17 or 18. Domestic abuse was 
seemingly a feature of the relationship from the 
outset. They briefly separated prior to the review 
period, during which time dad threatened to slit 
mum’s throat. Both parents had previously sought 
help for low level mental health issues. Mum had a 
difficult relationship with her own mum and there 
were allegations of domestic abuse and periods of 
estrangement between them. During the eighteen 
month period under review dad spent periods 
in custody and was under probation supervision 
throughout his time in the community.

What did it tell us?

Professionals in this case were dealing with a sibling 
group who were subject to numerous risks, as was 
their mum. This, in turn, compromised her ability 
to parent them effectively and safely. However, 
assessments of the children tended to focus solely on 
the domestic abuse and failed to make a cumulative 
assessment of the impact of years of abuse on the 
children, or of mum’s own experiences as a child an 
adult. Despite ample evidence that mum wanted to 
continue her relationship with dad (evidence was cited 
of the increased risk of harm to victims of domestic 
abuse who attempt to separate), plans were predicated 
on mum ending the relationship and policing dad’s 
contact with his children. Framing dad’s actions as 
coercive and controlling behaviour, as opposed to 
taking an incident by incident approach, would have 
enabled professionals to better understand and 
respond to the experiences of the children and mum, 
and to provide interventions for dad. Equally, the focus 
on domestic abuse perpetrated by dad, reduced the 
emphasis on the risk presented to the children by 
mum. Professionals reported knowing that dad was 
breaching contact restrictions but feeling stuck in 
their approach to the case. They should have received 
more effective management oversight to break 
this cycle. Finally, a review of literature was found 
to support the thesis that twins and young sibling 
groups with short spacing between births were at an 
increased risk of abuse.

What have we done?

BSCB has challenged local commissioners to ensure 
that there is adequate domestic abuse provision for 
perpetrators and victims who want to remain in a 
relationship with the perpetrator. This has resulted 
in short term funding to enhance the provision of 
the Inner Strength programme, prior to its formal 
evaluation in 2020. This is a voluntary perpetrator 
programme that also provides support to victims. 
BSCB has revised its own domestic abuse training for 
practitioners to include specific courses covering the 
impact of domestic abuse on children and on coercive 
and controlling behaviour, in addition to the existing 
overview course. Blackpool Teaching Hospitals 
has provided an additional midwife to the existing 
clinic for multiple births to link with the social and 
complex needs midwifery team, thereby providing an 
additional means by which safeguarding needs can 
be identified. Given broader concerns about drift and 
delay in child protection plans found in this review, 
other reviews and in the recent Ofsted inspection, 
BSCB has agreed a Child Protection Standards 
Pathway that provides for increased oversight by the 
conference chair and means for escalation.

Page 72



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 21

Child BZ

What happened?

Child BZ was a 13 week old baby who sustained, 
and subsequently died as a consequence of, a 
catastrophic brain injury. Dad was held responsible 
for causing these injuries and has been convicted 
of murder. Child BZ was the only child of mum and 
dad. Mum has long-standing and fluctuating mental 
health problems and a diagnosis of schizoaffective 
disorder, together with learning difficulties. She has 
required periods of in-patient care and has a history 
of aggressive behaviour when unwell. Dad has a 
history of perpetrating domestic abuse in previous 
relationships and there were also some indications 
of earlier alcohol problems. He was the only adult 
present when Child BZ’s older half-sibling sustained 
suspected non-accidental injuries at a young age 
in 2004. Dad experienced lower level mental health 
problems and was described by his family as a 
recluse, with a nocturnal lifestyle. 

Mum had been an in-patient in the months prior to 
her pregnancy and there was evidence of health 
professionals effectively working together to manage 
her pregnancy and mental health conditions in early 
weeks, with a children’s social care referral made 
at the expected point in the pregnancy. There was 
limited activity in the weeks following referral, with no 
multi-agency meeting to share information until the 
child protection conference held three weeks later 
than is required in the pre-birth protocol. At the time 
of birth expected parenting assessments had not 
been completed. The conference rightly identified 
risks associated with mum’s mental health and the 
suspected non-accidental injury, but missed dad’s 
coercive and controlling behaviour, substance use 
and mental health. The agreed plan was for Child BZ 
to live with mum and dad, with dad as the primary 
carer for both. However, mum’s mental health 
declined post-birth, resulting in her being detained 
and Child BZ being placed in dad’s sole care. While 
intensive services were put in place, there were 
indications that dad was starting to disengage in the 
weeks prior to the murder. 

What did it tell us?

The review identified five broad areas of learning. 
Firstly, the need to secure and attach credence to 
historical information when completing assessments, 
in this case in terms of the non-accidental injury 
to Child BZ’s half-sibling. Secondly, the need 
for greater urgency to be attached to pre-birth 
safeguarding processes. In this case there was 
no multi-agency assessment or planning until well 
after the expected point in the pregnancy, which 
resulted in assessments not being complete at the 
time of birth and then needing to take place on the 
mother and baby unit. Ultimately, the decision to 
place Child BZ at home with dad was made before 
full information had been obtained about the injury 
to the half-sibling and was overly-optimistic. Thirdly, 
that significant changes to a child protection plan, 
in this case to place Child BZ at home in dad’s 
sole care, should not be made without core group 
members’ knowledge. Fourthly, that decisions 
should be made on a full assessment of all risks. 
While the primary risk of physical harm presented by 
mum, when she was unwell, was rightly identified, 
other risks presented by dad were overlooked. A 
cumulative assessment of all risks should have been 
completed. Finally, there was insufficient evidence of 
management oversight and escalation, particularly 
within children’s social care given the delays in 
assessment.

What have we done?

The findings of this review echoed that of Child CA 
in terms of safeguarding babies prior to birth and the 
actions taken are therefore covered under that review. 
The safeguarding unit has amended processes to 
ensure that health visitors are invited to pre-birth child 
protection conferences and has introduced additional 
checks to ensure the quality of reports being 
provided to conference. Children’s services’ internal 
care planning protocol would now result in weekly 
discussion of cases of a similar nature, providing the 
management oversight that was lacking at the time. 
Finally, the risk sensible approach in child protection 
conferences should ensure that all risks are identified 
and addressed both in decision making and on the 
subsequent plan. 

Page 73



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 22

Child CB

What happened?

Child CB was a 17 year old looked after child who 
committed suicide. Child CB and a younger sibling 
had been taken into the care of the local authority 
and adopted at the age of three. Child CB’s behaviour 
became increasingly difficult to manage and gradually 
more intensive interventions were provided, but 
could not forestall the breakdown of the adoption in 
2014, after which Child CB lived in five foster and two 
residential placements. Throughout this period there was 
considerable multi-agency intervention to support Child 
CB, although provision was disrupted by moves between 
local authority areas. Incidences of self-harm were known 
from 2013 and a significant deterioration in mental health 
and increase in substance misuse was seen in months 
prior to the suicide. This was seemingly triggered by 
anxiety about a projected move into independent living. 
The review highlighted the overall difficulty of dealing 
with older children who can increasingly make their 
own decisions but who may make bad ones. 

What did it tell us?

Adolescence is a time when children ask the 
fundamental question, “Who am I?” However, 
adopted children will often have an incomplete picture 
of their life which makes this harder.  There had been 
insufficient early ‘life-story’ work done with Child CB, 
or the adoptive parents, and it was well known that 
Child CB became easily upset when there was the 
potential for others to find out about his adoption and 
past. Child CB’s experience was that every trusted 
relationship that had been formed, be it with adoptive 
parents, carers or professionals would break down. 
Behavioural difficulties including self-harm were 
sometimes considered as symptoms of underlying 
attachment issues, but at other times, e.g. breakdown 
of foster placements, the underlying causes were 
not addressed. The case therefore highlights the 
complex and often considerable post-adoption 
needs of the whole family.

Child CB was offered and intermittently attended 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) appointments from 2009. It was obvious 
that more formal appointments were less effective 
and that there was a need for more flexible and 
creative approaches to engagement, however this 
was not consistently seen. Due to not being open 
to CAMHS on turning 16, Child CB could not be 
re-referred in for support at a time of significantly 
increased pressures brought on by an impending 
transition to semi-independent accommodation, 
while therapeutic support to address attachment 
disorder was similarly unavailable.

Child CB was known to be using cannabis for a 
number of years and this was effectively tolerated 
by professionals, partially due to perception that the 
police would not act. This resulted in information 
about cannabis use not being shared amongst 
professionals and the potential interaction with 
prescribed medications not being explored. The 
review report therefore posed the fundamental 
question as to whether expectations for looked after 
children are lower than for those raised by their 
biological parents. 

Finally, the review emphasised the need for a specific 
response to the increased risk of suicide amongst 
looked after children and the need for physical 
measures to prevent suicides.

What have we done?

In response to a request from BSCB the Lancashire 
Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing 
and Mental Health Transformation Plan board has 
provided assurance that CAMHS services will now 
be open to referrals for all children up to their 18th 
birthday, while work remains ongoing to re-design 
the broader service model. This model will be 
based on an early intervention principle to prevent 
escalation to higher tier services. BSCB has also 
received assurance from the relevant board that 
looked after children will be considered as a specific 
group within local suicide prevention strategies, 
while the findings of the review have been shared 
with public health colleagues who are responsible 
for physical measures to reduce the risk of suicide. 
Finally, training and materials will be made available 
to professionals working with children at risk of 
suicide.

Undertaking four serious case reviews within a 
relatively short timeframe has been a significant 
undertaking and BSCB would like to express its 
gratitude to panel members and particularly family 
members and practitioners who have made valuable 
contributions to the review processes.

Page 74



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 23

Multi-agency learning panels

In order to preserve the anonymity of the children 
involved, MALP reports are not published, although 
action plans are agreed and delivered in the same 
manner as for SCR. Learning is disseminated to 
professionals through the publication of practitioner 
briefings and the inclusion of findings within the 
programmes of Serious Case Review Workshops. 
MALP during the review period were used to support 
the challenge to commissioners in respect of CAMHS 
provision noted under the Child CB SCR, resulted 
in the provision of guidance for schools dealing with 
sexting and were used to inform the development of 
the MASH.

Child Death Overview Panel

The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is a  
subgroup of the three pan-Lancashire LSCBs and 
undertakes the Boards’ statutory functions in relation 
to child deaths. 

By its very nature the death of a child is distressing for 
parents, siblings, carers and professionals involved 
with the family. CDOP carries out a systematic review 
of all child deaths to help understand why children 
die and reduce the risk of future deaths in similar 
circumstances. By identifying modifiable factors the 
panel can recommend measures to improve child 
safety and prevent future deaths. Broader findings 
can be used to inform strategic planning and the 
commissioning of services. By sharing the findings 
throughout Lancashire there is a greater ability to 
identify themes and trends. 

There were 7 deaths of children ordinarily resident in 
Blackpool during year to 31st March 2019 (2018: 11). 
CDOP reviewed 13 deaths, with 7 completed within a 
year of the death and the remainder taking longer than 
a year (a CDOP review occurs after all other legal and 
review processes are completed, so can be subject to 
lengthy delays).

Of the 13 deaths reviewed:

• 8 were male and 5 female 

• 9 were aged under one year of which 
5 were under four weeks old

• 5 were expected (predictable 
24 hours prior to death)

• 5 were recorded as peri-natal/neo-natal 
events, the most commonly recorded category 
(in 2017/18 it had been chromosomal, 
genetic and congenital anomalies)

• 8 were deemed to have modifiable factors 
(circumstances that, if changed, would 
reduce the risk of future child deaths in similar 
circumstances), of which substance misuse 
and domestic abuse were the most common 

The weakness of data derived from CDOP is that the 
number of deaths considered (even pan-Lancashire 
only 111 (2018: 128) were considered in year) is 
statistically insignificant. Consequently, while a review 
of an individual case may cast a light on risk factors or 
service provision, extreme caution has to be utilised 
in the drawing of general conclusions. This can be 
overcome by larger scale analysis and thematic reviews. 
During the reporting period research was completed 
into the prevalence of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) amongst the cohort of 489 children reviewed 
by CDOP between 2012 and 2016. Of this cohort 
20% were found to have four or more ACEs, which 
is a higher proportion than amongst the general 
population. Amongst the older group of children (12-17 
years) this proportion was higher still. This research 
consequently raises the challenge to consider the role 
that ACEs might play in a child’s life, how awareness 
of the issue can be raised and how ACEs can be 
prevented and mitigated against. In order to continue 
to develop our understanding of this issue CDOP now 
routinely collects data in respect of ACEs for all deaths 
that it reviews. During the reporting period CDOP has 
also completed thematic reviews of all deaths from 
2008 categorised as either being the result of trauma 
and other external factors, and infection. 

Page 75



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 24

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 disaggregated 
the Child Death Overview Panel from future multi-
agency safeguarding arrangements. It is now the 
responsibility of the local authority and clinical 
commissioning group, under the overview of the 
Department of Health, to make child death review 
arrangements. In addition to the CDOP process, these 
also include the initial response, investigation and 
review of a child’s death. The current pan-Lancashire 
CDOP arrangements will remain in place for 2019-
20 as part of the new safeguarding partnership. The 
longer term aspiration is for CDOP to come under 
the governance of the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
with appropriate links maintained to the safeguarding 
partnership to ensure that relevant learning is shared.  

Audit activity

When a specific issue is identified by review, data 
analysis or inspection regimes and it is agreed that 
further information is needed to fully understand its 
implications, BSCB will undertake an audit of practice 
to inform its next steps. These are undertaken by our 
Multi-Agency Audit Group which meets on a quarterly 
basis, with one additional audit during the reporting 
period having been completed by the BSCB Business 
Manager. In recent years our audit processes have 
been influenced by the requirement of Joint Targeted 
Area Inspections for partnerships to evaluate a small 
number of cases within a five day period. We have 
consequently implemented a standard process and 
audit tool by which we aim to focus on the outcomes 
for children of multi-agency interventions.

Domestic Abuse

This was a follow up audit to one undertaken on the 
same topic in 2016, to assess whether practice and 
service provision had improved in the intervening 
period. The audit considered five children who were 
subject to child protection plans on the grounds of 
domestic abuse and found good practice in terms of 
timely referrals, multi-agency information sharing and 
participation in child protection conferences. There was 
additionally evidence of the provision of a wide ranging 
service offer for victims, perpetrators and children 
living with domestic abuse. Areas for improvement 
were noted to be the involvement of adult facing 
organisations (in this case probation and mental health 
providers) in child protection processes from the outset, 
the need for child protection plans to meet specific risks 
to individual children, including specific contingency 
plans, the need to engage General Practitioners in child 
protection processes and for safeguarding supervision 
to be available to school based professionals. Since 
this audit the CCG have started a General Practitioners’ 
safeguarding forum to develop their practice and the 
Blackpool Council schools’ safeguarding advisor has 
put arrangements in place to ensure that supervision is 
available to school based professionals.

Child Exploitation

This audit was commissioned to provide a baseline 
position in respect of child criminal exploitation, as 
BSCB partner agencies developed their response to an 
increasingly prominent issue. The audit sample, of five 
children subject to child protection plan, was taken from 
the Awaken team’s caseload, however the first point 
of learning identified was that there were no cases of 
child criminal exploitation being held (this was in August 
2018). The audit consequently considered four cases of 
child sexual exploitation and one child involved in card-
tricking, which was agreed by the audit group not to 
amount to criminal exploitation. Good practice was noted 
in terms of joined up multi-agency working, the long term 
involvement of one key professional with whom the child 
had a trusted relationship, a school’s ‘handle with care’ 
process for vulnerable pupils and the use of disruption 
activity. The audit however, identified significant areas 
for improvement in terms of attendance at multi-agency 
meetings (five out of eleven strategy meetings were not 
compliant with expectations and two out of ten child 
protection conferences were inquorate), the quality of 
child protection plans, responses to children missing 
from home and the use of the CSE screening tool. 
More broadly the audit raised the issue as to whether 
child protection plans are the most appropriate vehicle 
to address risks to older children outside the family 
home. Broader changes made to practice and service 
provision in respect of child exploitation, which address 
many of these issues, are recorded below.

Page 76



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 25

Transience

The response to children moving into Blackpool in 
need of safeguarding was raised by the Child CA 
SCR, noted above, and this audit was commissioned 
to provide a broader window on practice in this 
respect. The audit reviewed the effectiveness of the 
transfer process for the child protection plans of ten 
children who moved to Blackpool. Overall practice 
in this area was stronger than in other recent audits, 
with nine of the ten cases judged to have been 
transferred safely. Good practice was identified in the 
use of strategy meetings to share information with 
multi-agency partners following receipt of a transfer 
request (this is not required by Working Together) 
and pro-active work by the health visiting service to 
work with families who were not registered with a 
GP. The average length of time from transfer request 
to child protection conference was 23 days, against 
a statutory expectation of 15, although it was noted 
that conferences were often delayed to allow external 
social workers to attend. The greatest area of concern 
arising from this audit was the provision of services 
to children in Blackpool who remain subject to a child 
protection plan in the originating area (which can be 
for a period of up to three months, if they are living in 
temporary accommodation). The Safeguarding, Quality 
and Review service have consequently undertaken to 
review practices in this respect.

Unborn children

The safeguarding of unborn children has been an 
area of concern for BSCB since the completion of the 
Child BW SCR in early 2017. This prompted a MAAG 
audit in June 2017 that identified significant areas 
for improvement, while the Child CA and Child BZ 
SCR, reported above, reflect practice in early 2017 
and also identified significant shortcomings in this 
area. In the intervening period, the Pan-Lancashire 
Pre-Birth Protocol was updated and children’s social 
care introduced a more detailed internal protocol. 
This audit, in March 2019, therefore aimed to identify 
if practice in this area had improved. The audit 
considered five cases of unborn children who had 
been made subject to child protection plans in the 
autumn of 2018 and the findings, on the whole, were 
disappointing with many issues from the previous 
audit remaining. That said, improvements were noted 
in terms of the timeliness of referrals, multi-agency 
involvement in strategy meetings, completion of birth 
plans and the use of discharge planning meetings. 
Concerns remain in terms of full adherence to the pre-
birth protocol particularly in terms of the timeliness of 
both pre-birth and review child protection conferences, 
and in the home visit by the named social worker 
following discharge.

The area of greatest concern was the quality of 
children’s social care assessments, which was not 
assisted by the use of a generic assessment form. 
These were not seen to be timely or multi-agency (to 
the extent that specialist parenting assessments were 
often not completed at the time of birth) and lacked 
cumulative assessments of historical factors, often 
resulting in overly optimistic conclusions. The cases 
reviewed were of children facing significant risks but 
none contained twin track plans for permanence 
with alternative carers or had contingencies, which is 
particularly important given that births will typically be 
out of hours. Finally, the audit also raised a broader 
question as to how universally available provision, 
such as the NSPCC’s Baby Steps programme and the 
Family Nurse Partnership should be utilised as part of 
child protection plans. 

Multi-agency referral forms

MAAG members audited 25 Multi-Agency Referral 
Forms submitted to children’s social care for a statutory 
safeguarding response in May 2019. All except one of 
the referrals was found to have been appropriate and all 
bar three were timely. This provides some confidence 
that the multi-agency practitioners are able to make 
appropriate judgements based on the CON. The 
quality of referrals was, however found to be variable. 
Demographic information was missing in around half of 
cases and forms tended to lack historical information 
and a cumulative assessment of the risk of significant 
harm and needs. Some referrals tended to hand over 
responsibility for safety planning actions that should 
have been put in place prior to referral. MAAG members 
concluded that some of the identified weaknesses 
stemmed from the structure of the form, which contains 
limited prompts to provide this level of information and 
analysis. At the time of writing, the BSCB response to 
this audit has yet to be finalised.

Page 77



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 26

Child Protection Conference and Core Group 
functioning

This audit was requested by the BSCB in January 
2018, as a follow up to a review of the Safeguarding, 
Quality and Review service’s annual report and 
was completed as a paper exercise by the BSCB 
Business Manager. The audit reviewed attendance 
at conferences and found that this tended to tail off 
between initial and review conferences. The greatest 
gap in attendance was found to be from General 
Practice, which the Clinical Commissioning Group is 
working to address. Understanding the views of the 
involved children is crucial to the effective operation 
of conferences and, in Blackpool, this is achieved 
through asking them to complete conference packs 
beforehand. This was only done in 13% of expected 
conferences, which is significantly below what we 
would want to see. The overall average attendance at 
core groups was 67%, which is considerably below 
expectations and Board members were asked to 
review their agency’s practice in this respect. Child 
protection plans were not seen to be sufficiently 
dynamic, with many not being updated during the 
nine month period reviewed on each case, despite 
obvious changes in circumstances being recorded in 
the minutes.    

Multi-professional discussion forums

In order to test whether the findings of multi-agency 
audits are representative of wider practice, BSCB 
has introduced multi-professional discussion forums 
(MPDF) as a means of bringing together groups of 
frontline practitioners to discuss their experience of 
the topic. During the reporting period MPDF were 
held in respect of domestic abuse, child exploitation, 
transience and safeguarding unborn children. 

The first two MPDF, in respect of domestic abuse 
and child exploitation, highlighted differences in the 
maturity of the multi-agency response to the two 
issues. While practitioners were well versed and 
confident in their ability to identify and respond to 
domestic abuse and child sexual exploitation, they 
were aware of gaps in their knowledge about child 
criminal exploitation. Similarly, there was a well 
recognised service offer for the former two issues, 
but none known for the latter. This MPDF pre-dated 
the work outlined below to develop the Blackpool 
response to child criminal exploitation, which has 
addressed the identified lack of pathways and training.

A MPDF on the topic of transience confirmed the 
audit findings that professionals are well used to 
dealing with children moving to Blackpool, but also 
emphasised the amount of time that this takes to 
request information and, equally, when a child leaves 
Blackpool to find where they have gone. A particular 
issue for schools was raised in that they cannot 
request information from the transferring school until a 
child is on roll, by which time they may have missed a 
child protection conference. The Pupil Welfare Service 
have consequently agreed to attend conferences for 
children who have moved to Blackpool, but who are 
not on a school roll. 

The MPDF on safeguarding unborn children, revealed 
a considerable degree of frustration at the delays in 
safeguarding processes evident in the audit. These 
were reported to cause practical difficulties for health 
practitioners who needed to plan for births and 
equally placed parents under unnecessary pressure 
when they have concerns as to whether they would 
be able to keep their baby. Recently introduced 
monthly meetings between children’s social care and 
midwifery to review risky cases were welcomed, and 
the suggestion made that they should be expanded to 
become genuinely multi-agency.

Page 78



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 27

Training

Working Together requires LSCBs to monitor and 
evaluate the effectiveness of training. Like most other 
Boards, BSCB also chooses to deliver its own training as 
a means of ensuring the availability of good quality, multi-
agency training. This training offer forms the crucial final 
link in the Learning and Improvement Framework, by 
which improvement in practice is promoted. 

Our approach to training and development is set out 
in our Training Strategy 2016-19 and underpinned by 
our Operating Framework. BSCB delivers a shared 
training programme with BSAB which allows us to 
provide courses that cover the full safeguarding 
spectrum to the children’s and adults’ workforces, 
while also maintaining a number of child specific 
courses. Our two training co-ordinators (1.6 FTE) 
develop and deliver the programme, with the support 
of a pool of multi-agency and commissioned trainers. 
Operational oversight is provided by the Training and 
Communications subgroup.

Our overall training programme continues to evolve to 
reflect changing local and national priorities, emerging 
safeguarding issues and learning from review activity. 
Review activity has resulted in our reshaping our 
domestic abuse training, to include courses on the 
impact of domestic abuse on children, coercive and 
controlling behaviour and ‘hidden men’, while the more 
general findings of reviews are covered in Serious 
Case Review Workshops. 

We have delivered a range of new courses covering intra-
familial child sexual abuse and child criminal exploitation 
to reflect issues that have gained national prominence, 
together with more specialist topics such as harmful 
sexual behaviour and teenagers and pornography. 
Finally, we introduced ‘The Blackpool Way’, which is an 
overarching course covering our early help processes, 
and the resilient therapy and risk sensible models. By 
bringing together these fundamental ways of working 
in one course professionals, who are either new to role 
or new to Blackpool, are provided with the building 
blocks of how agencies in Blackpool work together to 
safeguard children. 

During the 12 months to 31st March we delivered 
training to 1,642 professionals on 96 courses (this 
omits attendance at courses with solely safeguarding 
adults content). This represents slight decrease from 
1,805 attendees at 105 courses in 2017-18, which 
largely reflects a period during the autumn of 2018 
when attendance was markedly down. Training and 
Communications subgroup members were asked to 
review attendance within their individual agencies and 
improvements were noted over the final months of the 
period. A breakdown of training attendance by sector 
is provided below. Direct year on year comparisons 
are not included due to changes in our recording 
processes, although it can be said that the greatest 
increase in attendance came from Blackpool Council 
Children’s and Adults’ Services, while the greatest 
decrease came from the health sector.

Page 79



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 28

Our training programme does continue to operate some way below capacity. The vast majority of courses have 
a notional capacity of 25 attendees. During the year to 31st March 2019 they were attended by an average 
of 17.1 delegates (2018: 17.2). This shortfall in attendance tends to occur between booking and attendance: 
courses have an average of 25.2 places booked on them, however 23.9% (2018: 16.3%) cancelled prior to the 
day and 2.2% (2018: 6.2%) failed to attend on the day. Delegates who failed to attend on the day are charged in 
accordance with our agreed policy. This clearly represents a significant under use of resources and will need to 
be considered under future partnership arrangements. 

This reporting period was the first full year in which we used our electronic training evaluations process. This 
enables us to collect pre- and post-course feedback from attendees, which is then used to provide feedback to 
our trainers and to inform the delivery and development of future training. By asking attendees to rate their skills 
and confidence prior to and after a training course we are able to capture whether a course is likely to impact 
on an attendees’ practice and to review those that are less successful. We have also attempted to evidence the 
impact of our training on practice and ultimately children and families in Blackpool through telephone interviews 
with attendees and their managers a number of weeks after attendance at selected courses, although this work 
remains in development.

The successor arrangements to BSCB, outlined in Chapter 1 above, provide an opportunity for a fundamental 
review of our training offer. By bringing together the training resources from three areas, it will be possible to 
share expertise and reduce duplication to develop a programme that will be fundamentally the same across the 
area, allowing for a small number of courses that reflect local needs and practices where necessary. It will be 
critical to the success of this offer that we start by fully understanding the training needs of our partner agencies 
across the area and ultimately that we are able to evidence the impact of our training on practice and, more 
importantly, the children and families with whom practitioners work.  

Training Attendance by Agency Sector350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

Blac
kp

oo
l C

ou
nc

il A
du

lts
’ S

er
vic

es

Blac
kp

oo
l C

ou
nc

il C
hil

dr
en

’s 
Ser

vic
es

Blac
kp

oo
l C

ou
nc

il o
th

er
s

Edu
ca

tio
n -

 E
ar

ly 
Ye

ar
s

Edu
ca

tio
n -

 S
ch

oo
ls

Edu
ca

tio
n -

 O
th

er

La
nc

as
hir

e F
ire

 an
d 

Res
cu

e

La
nc

as
hir

e C
on

sta
bu

lar
y

Pro
ba

tio
n p

ro
vid

er
s

Hea
lth

 - 
BTH

Hea
lth

 - 
CCG

Hea
lth

 - 
GPs

Hea
lth

 - 
Oth

er

Hou
sin

g p
ro

vid
er

s

Th
ird

 S
ec

to
r

Oth
er

73

301

61

99

151

64

9

88

57

143

10 2

32

262

47

243

Page 80



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 29

Awareness raising

In addition to our training offer, BSCB seeks to develop 
public and practitioner awareness of safeguarding 
topics. We base awareness raising activities on 
evidenced needs from our learning activities and, 
wherever possible, work in conjunction with our 
colleagues in Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire. 
During the reporting period we have:

• Started to regularly publish seven minute briefings 
on specific topics, including on child sexual abuse 
in the family environment and the pre-birth protocol

• Published practitioner briefings for all our 
serious case reviews and the majority of 
our multi-agency learning panels

• Delivered a safer sleep campaign aimed 
at grandparents, launched in the local 
media and with materials available in 
libraries and other public buildings

• Provided safer sleep materials to 376 pharmacies

• Supported Blackpool and the Fylde College 
to deliver the Bystander programme that 
provides participants with the skills to intervene 
in situations of domestic or sexual violence

• Continued to support with White Ribbon campaign 
to tackle violence against women and girls

• In response to a number of SCR across the 
three LSCB in which babies have been shaken, 
launched the I-CON campaign aimed at providing 
parents with the means to manage crying

• Held a domestic abuse conference to promote 
findings of serious case reviews, domestic 
homicide reviews and serious adult reviews and 
to support the launch of Operation Encompass 

Understand the impact of multi-agency 
safeguarding activity on children and 
families

Understanding whether the work of BSCB and our 
multi-agency partners makes any difference to the 
lives of children and families in Blackpool is both the 
most important and most challenging aspect of our 
work. To develop this work BSCB has established 
links with the Head Start Young People’s Engagement 
Group (YPEG). Head Start is a Big Lottery funded 
project to improve the resilience of 11 to 16 year olds 
in Blackpool and is based on the principle of co-
production with children. YPEG is therefore a forum 
for ideas to be tested and developed alongside the 
children for whom they are intended. During the 
reporting period BSCB members have attended YPEG 
and YPEG members have attended BSCB to develop 
our understanding of the experiences of children 
growing up in Blackpool, whether and where they 
feel safe. While the majority of areas that gave YPEG 
members cause for concern, e.g. public transport 
and large scale events, fall outside BSCB’s formal 
remit this did provide the opportunity to feedback to 
the responsible bodies. There is clearly much more 
work that could and should be done to understand 
the experiences of the wider child population and 
specifically those who need help and protection. 
To this end, the published arrangements for the 
safeguarding partnership include strengthened 
arrangements to ensure that children are consulted 
with both in the development of these arrangements 
and in the ongoing work.

Children in the care of the local authority have their 
own forum, Just Uz. This provides a means for our 
children to spend time together, for peer support and 
to have a collective voice to their corporate parents. 
During the reporting period Just Uz has provided 
a language guide for practitioners, which BSCB 
has promoted amongst its multi-agency partners. 
Most significantly, this has led to a move away from 
the use of the term “Looked After Children” to “our 
children”, thereby emphasising the responsibility of all 
professionals for their care. Other changes reflect a 
move away from the formal language of “placement” 
to “home”, “siblings” to “brothers” or “sisters”, and 
“contact” to “going to see mum”. These changes are 
supported in all our documents and throughout our 
training offer.   

Page 81



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 30

Develop the multi-agency response to all 
forms of exploitation

Child exploitation has been a significant area of activity 
for BSCB, with a decision taken by the Strategic Board 
shortly before the start of the reporting period to 
deliver a consistent strategic and operational response 
to all forms of exploitation, building on existing CSE 
work. The CSE subgroup was consequently rebranded 
the Vulnerable Missing, Exploited and Trafficked 
(VMET) subgroup and a new operational action plan 
for 2018-2020 agreed to deliver the new agenda.

The operational response to child exploitation in 
Blackpool continues to be provided by the multi-
agency Awaken team. During the autumn period the 
team’s remit was formally expanded to encompass all 
forms of exploitation, together with trafficking, modern 
day slavery, honour based violence, forced marriage, 
female genital mutilation and radicalisation. As a 
consequence of these changes, the team’s caseload 
increased from 40 in November 2018 to 91 on the 31st 
March 2019. The widened remit may be responsible 
for a change in the profile of children open to the team 
with the proportion of boys having increased from 
33% to 48%, although the most common age range 
remains 13-15. At the year end the Awaken team was 
constituted of 8 practitioners from Children’s Services, 
12 Police officers, 1.5 FTE health practitioners, an 
education worker and licensing officer (representing 
an in year increase of 8 professionals to manage the 
team’s expanded remit). All children have a key worker 
who is the practitioner most able to effectively engage 
with them (with those requiring a statutory intervention 
always having a named social worker as well). The 
Awaken team also acts as a resource for Children’s 
Services more widely and is able to co-work cases 
and provide advice to practitioners from other teams. 

Our understanding of child criminal exploitation is 
developing and will be enhanced by the completion of 
a full problem profile by Lancashire Constabulary later 
this year. In the meantime, our knowledge is derived 
from the Awaken team who continue to report that 
there is no evidence of organised or group CSE in 
Blackpool, with the only evident links being through 
victims’ own associations. Police colleagues advise 
that there is evidence of county lines type drug supply 
in Blackpool in which drug suppliers from metropolitan 
areas use children to supply drugs in smaller towns. 
Similarly, a significant number of children have been 
identified as victims of criminal exploitation within 
Blackpool, including being found in cannabis farms. 
Referrals as a consequence of town centre anti-social 
behaviour, including involvement in card tricking, have 
decreased, although links to criminal exploitation 
remain uncertain. The effectiveness of our response to 
child exploitation is monitored by the VMET subgroup, 

which receives a quarterly performance dataset, while 
the Multi-Agency Audit Group audit, reported above, 
provided a qualitative analysis of our response.

The primary means by which the partnership response 
to criminal exploitation has been developed is through 
the agreement of a multi-agency Child Exploitation 
pathway, protocol and screening tool, which is 
underpinned by a specialist assessment tool used by 
the Awaken team. The screening tool is embedded 
within the Multi-Agency Referral Form used for 
referrals to the Children’s Services front door. The 
pathway has introduced Children, Missing, Exploited 
and Trafficked (CMET) meetings that are held in the 
Awaken team on a monthly basis and used to collate 
multi-agency information to complete the specialist 
assessment tool and to put in place a plan around 
the child. Where the risks to the child are entirely 
outside the home environment, with no evidence of 
compromised parenting, the CMET plan will forestall 
the need for a child protection plan. At the end of the 
reporting period work was underway to agree shared 
principles, screening and assessment tools with 
colleagues in Blackburn with Darwen and Lancashire 
to ensure that children receive a consistent approach 
across a wider area. 

The new Child Exploitation Pathway was launched by 
the BSCB Independent Chair and senior managers 
from the Awaken team to a multi-agency audience 
of approximately 250 practitioners in March 2019. 
A separate event was held for residential settings 
in Blackpool, while its ongoing roll out is supported 
through a re-written child exploitation training package. 

Broader awareness raising work has continued 
throughout the year and included a three day 
campaign by Awaken and BSCB practitioners centred 
on the promenade in July 2018. As well as raising 
awareness of exploitation amongst the public and 
local businesses, the campaign provided a means of 
gathering intelligence about risks to children in the 
area. Having provided CSE awareness training to all 
taxi drivers three years ago and to those obtaining a 
new licence since, a general safeguarding refresher, 
including criminal exploitation was in the process of 
being delivered to all drivers at the end of the reporting 
period. The Awaken education worker continues to 
provide assemblies and other input to primary and 
secondary schools on an annual basis, meaning that 
all children will receive age appropriate interventions 
on online safety, sexting and CSE prior to leaving 
secondary school. Finally, to support the expansion 
of the Awaken team’s remit, BSCB held four child 
criminal exploitation briefings and supported a pan-
Lancashire child exploitation conference hosted by the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

Page 82



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 31

Children missing from home, care and education

Children missing from home, care or education are 
vulnerable at that time, quite simply because those 
responsible for their care are unable to ensure that they 
are safe. A correlation between missing children and 
CSE has been a feature of previously reported audits 
and case reviews, and might be reasonably expected 
to extend to criminal exploitation. As corporate parents, 
Blackpool Council are particularly anxious to address 
the over-representation of the already vulnerable group 
of children in its care amongst those who go missing 
(although this may, in part, reflect a greater willingness 
on the part of residential homes and foster carers, over 
parents to report children as missing).

The multi-agency response to children missing from 
home and care (MFH) has been incorporated within 
the local and pan-Lancashire structure for CSE for 
a number of years. Operationally, children who are 
considered particularly vulnerable as a consequence 
of repeated MFH episodes are discussed at CMET 
meetings. Children who are missing from education 
are reviewed by the Blackpool Education Registration 
and Admissions (BERA) panel, although further work is 
required to ensure that information is shared between 
these forums, particularly in light of the high proportion 
of Awaken cases who are either not in mainstream 
education, or not in education, training or employment.

During the year ended 31st March 2019 an average 
of 67 children, not currently open to children’s social 
care (CSC), were reported as missing from home 
each quarter, while an average of 76 children open 
to CSC were reported as missing. Given the small 
proportion of the overall population open to CSC, this 
reflects the increased vulnerability of this cohort, but 
also the previously cited greater willingness of foster 
carers and residential settings to report as child as 
missing. Each individual child may have one or more 
missing episodes within a quarter and there were an 
average of 94 individual missing episodes for children 
not currently open to CSC each quarter and 240 for 
children open to CSC. This equates to an average of 
1.4 episodes for children not open to CSC and 3.2 for 
those who are, which would be expected given the 
greater vulnerability of the cohort open to CSC and 
the increasing likelihood that a child who is repeatedly 
missing will become open to CSC. Similarly, there 
were an average of seven children open to CSC who 
were reported missing on nine or more occasions 
each quarter, while only one child not open to CSC 
was reported missing on nine or more occasions in 
a quarter throughout the entire year. There are no 
obvious longer term trends in either the number of 
children going missing or missing episodes, which can 
fluctuate widely on a quarterly basis.  

Operationally, understanding why children go 
missing is critical to protecting them individually and 
responding to broader threats. All children who go 
missing are expected to be offered an independent 
return home interview within 72 hours of their return. In 
Blackpool these are undertaken by the relevant social 
work teams for children open to CSC, or by Awaken 
for those who are not. Over the summer of 2019, all 
will be brought within the Awaken team to concentrate 
expertise and allow intelligence from interviews to 
be pooled. The completion rate for return home 
interviews has been a longstanding concern for BSCB 
and continues to remain well below expected levels, 
averaging 41% for children open to CSC and 37% for 
those who were not during the year to 31st March 
2019 (a further 23% and 29%, respectively, were 
completed outside the 72 hour window). Similarly, 
Lancashire Constabulary remain unable to provide 
evidence as to whether the safe and well checks, 
which are expected on a child’s immediate return, are 
completed. The Ofsted inspection report also noted 
that weaknesses in this process limit the ability of 
the partnership to respond to emerging patterns and 
trends. It is critical that the successor arrangements 
to BSCB hold partners to account for improvements in 
this critical area.

The overall response to missing children has been 
complicated by a College of Policing recommendation 
that the absent category should be scrapped, which 
has not been followed by a Department for Education 
guidance for local authorities. Currently, a child may 
be classed as absent when they are not where they 
are expected to be, but there is insufficient evidence 
that they are actually missing. There is no requirement 
for a return home interview, in these circumstances. 
Consequently, any decision to remove the absent 
category would carry with it an increased workload for 
the Awaken team. In the continued absence of statutory 
guidance for local authorities, Lancashire Constabulary, 
with the agreement of multi-agency partners has 
determined to move toward the removal of the absent 
category and, over the summer of 2019, is piloting a 
revised response in its call centres to children reported 
missing, to ensure that they are correctly categorised. 
Once agreed, these changes will be incorporated 
in a revised missing from home protocol that will be 
published by the safeguarding partners

Page 83



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 32

OUR PARTNERS’ ACTIVITIES

After a number of years in which the BSCB Business 
Unit collated performance information and maintained 
its own multi-agency dataset (albeit heavily skewed 
toward local authority data), our Strategic Board took a 
decision in early 2018 to introduce a Quality Assurance 
and Performance Monitoring (QAPM) framework. This 
requires our partner agencies to submit a six monthly 
return in which they are asked:

• to provide the data and performance indicators 
by which they measure their work to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children

• to provide a narrative explanation of 
this with particular reference to demand 
and business continuity risks

• to summarise quality assurance activity 
and how learning, including from 
SCR, has been implemented

• to evidence how the above activities have 
improved outcomes for children

QAPM returns are scrutinised by our QAPM subgroup, 
who will typically raise a number of queries that can 
either be immediately addressed, or result in changes 
to how future returns are completed. It would be fair 
to say that the introduction of the process, for which 
two returns have now been requested, has proved a 
challenge for some agencies, particularly those whose 
core business is not safeguarding and who have not 
previously routinely collected safeguarding data. It was 
therefore encouraging to see a marked improvement in 
the level of data submitted in the latter returns by some 
agencies. It is envisaged that, in the longer, term these 
returns will be able to provide a picture of system-wide 
demand and pressures, together with evidence of the 
effectiveness of work to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children. The following provides an overview 
of returns received during the reporting period:

Blackpool Coastal Housing

In addition to managing the former local authority 
housing stock, Blackpool Coastal Housing (BCH) 
also provide emergency hostel accommodation 
for families and single 16 to 18 year olds, together 
with the Positive Transitions service for looked 
after children and care leavers. They have trained 
all their repair operatives to recognise and report 
safeguarding concerns, while their Neighbourhood 
Teams ensure that families receive early help, with a 
focus on enabling families to maintain their tenancies. 
Typically, there will be around 20 children of families 
receiving emergency hostel accommodation at Level 
2 or above on the CON, while most or all of the six, 
or so, single 16-18 year olds will be open to CSC. 
Approximately 38 looked after children and care 
leavers receive support from the Positive Transitions 
service, some of whom have their own children. This 
service supports children to obtain and manage a 
tenancy, providing practical support for as long as they 
request it. Having started to record data about early 
help and safeguarding interventions, BCH are now 
able to recognise increasing demand on their teams. 
They have also recorded increasing demand for their 
emergency accommodation for families, with the 
hostel occupancy rate having increased from 65.9% 
in 2016/17 to 87.2% in 2018/19.

BCH require all their staff who enter residents’ homes 
to complete safeguarding training, while those in 
specialist roles regularly access BSCB training.   

Page 84



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 33

Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group

Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group is 
responsible for assuring the safeguarding 
arrangements for the services that it commissions, 
including those provided by Blackpool Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (BTH), and primary 
care. Safeguarding audits of all services are required, 
while BTH submits a number of safeguarding 
performance indicators on a quarterly basis (see 
below). General themes from providers’ safeguarding 
audits are access to safeguarding training required 
to meet changes to Intercollegiate Competencies, 
and continued compliance with Policy and Procedure 
updates. In turn, providers are supported to address 
these issues, including through referring them to 
the BSCB training programme. Blackpool CCG also 
employs designated safeguarding professionals who 
are available as a source of expertise to providers 
and to ensure the quality of practice. External scrutiny 
to Blackpool CCG is provided by NHS England 
and an independent external audit of safeguarding 
requirements has been commissioned. While 
Blackpool CCG currently commissions specialist 
safeguarding posts, for example Child Looked After 
and Youth Offending Team (YOT) nurses, these are 
moving to be commissioned on a Lancashire and 
south Cumbria Integrated Care System basis.

Blackpool CCG supports primary care providers 
through a quarterly safeguarding leads’ forum, led by 
the Deputy Designated Nurse for Safeguarding. These 
provide a means of sharing good practice, raising 
awareness of specific topics and sharing learning from 
SCR. While its own staff group is small and not patient 
facing, all are required to complete safeguarding 
training, with compliance levels at the year end 
meeting expected requirements. 

Blackpool Council Children’s Services

The Director of Children’s Services has statutory 
responsibility for the safety and education of all 
children resident in Blackpool. While the response to 
the Ofsted inspection outcome has dominated the 
final months of the reporting period, Blackpool Council 
has become increasingly able to evidence demand 
for and quality of services through its data and audit 
reporting (Children’s Services data was included 
throughout Chapter 3, so will not be further covered 
here). During the reporting period Children’s Services 
appointed a team of auditors who systematically 
audit both individual children’s cases, together with 
overarching themes or areas of practice. From January 
2019 all audits have been based on ten domains of 
practice: risk, being child centred, decision making, 
assessments, partnerships, plans, permanency, 
reviews, where the child lives, and whether help has 
been provided. Between January and June 2019, 
428 full case audits were completed. Judgements are 
made against the Ofsted grade descriptors for each 
domain of practice and summarised findings reported 
to the Getting to Good Board, with partnership issues 
referred to BSCB. Recent findings have included 
the need for more timely completion of Early Help 
Assessments and subsequent interventions; greater 
partnership involvement in assessments, plans and 
reviews; together with a need for partners to share 
information with families, work with them and ensure 
that this is done with their full consent.

More generally, additional resources have been 
provided to Children’s Services and these will be used 
to support a re-modelled Front Door that will support 
partner agencies to work with children and families at 
an early help level, while ensuring that those in need 
of statutory intervention receive it promptly and at an 
appropriate level. At the time of writing work remains 
ongoing to develop an overall model of practice that 
will be agreed by the partnership. This is being co-
produced with children and families, both within and 
outside Children’s Services to ensure that practitioners 
work alongside children and families to enable them to 
make sustainable changes that they own.

Page 85



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 34

Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust

BTH are the largest health provider in Blackpool and 
provide acute and community services, including 
midwifery, health visiting and Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health services. The BTH safeguarding team, 
in addition to providing representation to BSCB 
meetings, provide safeguarding advice and support 
to professionals throughout the organisation and to 
primary care providers. They identified neglect and 
child exploitation as their most significant themes in 
the latter two quarters of 2018/19.  The safeguarding 
team also provide training and ensure that the findings 
of SCR are disseminated to the relevant departments. 
BTH are required to submit a number of safeguarding 
performance indicators to Blackpool CCG, which 
indicate both the scale of health safeguarding work, 
e.g. an average of 52 health assessments undertaken 
by the Awaken team practitioner per month, and 
compliance, e.g. all YOT health assessments have 
been completed. The primary performance issue 
noted by BTH is in the completion of initial and review 
health assessments for looked after children, which 
has dipped in the last year under expectations. This is 
subject on ongoing joint work with CSC, with identified 
reasons being no or late notification, children not being 
brought to appointments, changes of placement and 
practitioner capacity. This is an area in which BTH 
has previously performed well and BSCB will seek 
assurance that this issue is addressed.

As an employer of over 6,000 staff, maintaining 
compliance with expected safeguarding training is an 
ongoing task and one that has been identified within 
recent inspection reports as requiring improvement. At 
the 31st March 2019 compliance with all except Level 
3 training was above 80%, while BTH practitioners 
regularly access and deliver training on the BSCB 
training programme.

Cumbria and Lancashire Community 
Rehabilitation Company

As a provider of adult probation services, CLCRC 
manages adults who may provide a direct risk 
to children, or who live with children who require 
safeguarding. Of their caseload in Blackpool 5.6% 
live, or have regular contact with, children subject to 
child protection plans (compared to 4.9% across their 
operating footprint), while 5.5% have been identified 
as presenting a direct risk to children. CLCRC deliver 
individual and group domestic abuse programmes 
to both their own supervisees and those under the 
supervision of the National Probation Service. During 
the six months to 31st March 2019 there were 8 
completions of group based programmes and 18 of 
individual work. CLCRC require that cases with child 
safeguarding concerns are held by qualified probation 
officers. The greatest risk to their business delivery, 
identified in their recent inspection report, is the lack 
of qualified officers, which is being addressed through 
a newly introduced training programme. Routine 
case auditing includes a safeguarding element, which 
has found a need to improve the gathering of multi-
agency information when completing the safeguarding 
element of their assessments, but that the delivery of 
safeguarding work was sufficiently co-ordinated.

Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust

Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust provides 
community and acute mental health services to adults 
in Blackpool, together with in-patient mental health 
beds for children (which are located outside Blackpool). 
The LCFT safeguarding team visit their adult in-patient 
facility in Blackpool, the Harbour, on a weekly basis 
to raise practitioner awareness of their safeguarding 
responsibilities. This targeted work may have influenced 
the slight increase in contacts that the team has 
received. LCFT are keen to increase the awareness of 
practitioners who work with adults of their responsibilities 
to safeguard children and representatives from the 
Harbour attended the BSCB Neglect consultation. As of 
June 2019 LCFT will attend Blackpool MARAC (Multi-
Agency Risk Assessment Conference) meetings, thereby 
ensuring that they are sighted on safeguarding concerns 
in respect of the children of adults they work with. LCFT 
also provide the SUDC service which has been covered 
in Chapter 5, above.

Page 86



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 35

LCFT’s large staff group are all required to complete 
safeguarding children training and the compliance rate, 
at each level, was at over 80% at the end of March 
2019. Having identified a need to improve supervision 
during their last section 11 audit, LCFT commissioned 
external training covering safeguarding, clinical and 
management supervision. A centralised recording 
system for supervision has also been introduced, 
addressing a long standing area of challenge by 
BSCB. LCFT produce internal briefings for their staff 
in respect of SCR, which ensure that areas of learning 
specific to their areas of work are highlighted.

Lancashire Constabulary

Lancashire Constabulary has fundamentally 
overhauled its approach to safeguarding children 
following an inspection in late 2017. This has involved 
an internal “Think Child” campaign to encourage 
all staff to consider children in every contact that 
they have with the public. They have provided child 
protection training, specific to local areas, to all 
operational uniform staff and introduced vulnerability 
coaches to act as a source of expertise for officers 
in their day to day work. As a consequence of the 
inspection they have undertaken a significant number 
of internal audits including of domestic abuse, missing 
from home, children in custody, neglect and physical 
abuse. Over time, these have demonstrated improved 
recording of the voice of the child, better quality 
investigations and more evidence of management 
oversight. Multi-agency findings have included the 
need to share MARAC information with primary care 
providers and to ensure that attendance at strategy 
meetings is compliant with expectations.

In response to the Child BZ SCR and HMICFRS 
findings, Lancashire Constabulary introduced a new 
system for recording strategy meetings and produced 
a good practice guide. A follow up audit found that 
strategy meetings were better recorded and being 
held as formal meetings, as opposed to informal 
conversations.  The follow up HMICFRS inspection 
in December 2018 found cultural change at all levels 
that resulted in a prioritisation of child protection. 
It concluded that “Lancashire Constabulary has 
made good progress in implementing our previous 
recommendations and is now performing to a high 
level when it comes to protecting children from harm”. 
A remaining area of challenge made by BSCB is the 
introduction of the new Connect computer system 
by Lancashire Constabulary. This has meant that 
no safeguarding data was available for this QAPM 
return. While assurance was provided that this will 
be resolved, in the meantime evidence of changes in 
demand cannot be provided or responded to.

Blackpool Council Public Health

The Blackpool Council Public Health team are 
responsible for commissioning public health services, 
including the health visiting offer (provided by BTH) 
and drug treatment services (provided by Blackpool 
Young People’s Service for children and adults up to 
25 and Horizon for those older). Providers are required 
to report specified safeguarding indicators as part 
of their routine contract monitoring. As has been the 
case with Horizon, the Public Health team will hold 
providers who have adverse inspection findings to 
account to ensure improvement. The safeguarding 
element of this report has also been afforded 
additional scrutiny through BSCB. A preventative 
approach has been taken in the forthcoming drug 
strategy for 2019-22, which will see universal drug and 
alcohol education, together with targeted provision for 
children at greater risk.

Public Health, in conjunction with Better Start, has 
commissioned an enhanced health visiting offer that 
provides eight visits to all children, together with more 
intensive support for those most in need. The new 
model provides a trauma informed approach, with 
routine enquiry about adverse childhood experiences 
built into early visits. While this model has been built 
with public health outcomes in mind, the increased 
contact with young families will also increase the ability 
of professionals to provide early help and prevent 
children from being harmed.

Page 87



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 36

CONCLUSIONS

This is the 13th and final BSCB annual report and comes 
at the end of a 15 month period of considerable activity 
and challenge for the partnership. The foregoing report 
has highlighted the development of the partnership 
response to child exploitation; the adoption of a Child 
Protection Standards Pathway, to provide challenge prior 
to and throughout the duration of a child protection plan; 
the agreement of an Early Intervention Strategy and the 
early responses to this; and new and ongoing campaigns 
aimed at practitioners and the public. This work has been 
underpinned by our learning activity, with the existing 
programme of serious case reviews and audits expanded 
during the year to include multi-agency learning panels 
and multi-professional discussion forums.

These positives have, however to be balanced 
against the shortcomings found in the elements of 
the partnership’s work to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children both in BSCB’s own audit 
and review activity and surfaced by a number 
of inspections that have been published during 
the reporting period. It is therefore critical that 
BSCB ensures a smooth transfer to its successor 
arrangements in the Blackburn with Darwen, 
Blackpool and Lancashire Children’s Safeguarding 
Assurance Partnership, and ensures that areas of 
challenge highlighted in this report remain to the 
forefront of the Partnership’s activity.

Page 88



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 37

APPENDIX A

Strategic Board members at the time of publication

BSCB

Stephen Ashley Independent Chair

Blackpool Council

Cllr Graham Cain Elected Member

Diane Booth Director of Children’s Services

Dr Arif Rajpura Director of Public Health

Jeanette Richards Assistant Director of Children’s 
Services

Kara Haskayne Head of Safeguarding and 
Principal Social Worker

Paul Turner Head of School Improvement

Kate Barker Early Years Improvement Officer 

Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group

Lesley  
Anderson-Hadley

Chief Nurse

Diane Kinsella Designated Nurse

Dr Nigel Laycock Designated Doctor

NHS England

Alison Cole Deputy Director of Nursing

Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS  
Foundation Trust

Peter Murphy Interim Director of Nursing and 
Quality

Hazel Gregory Head of Safeguarding

Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust

Bridgett Welch Associate Director of Nursing

Schools

Amanda Wooldridge Deputy Headteacher 
St John Vianney 

Neill Oldham Headteacher Highfurlong 
Special School

Wendy Casson Headteacher Educational 
Diversity

Lancashire Constabulary

Ian Whitehead Detective Superintendent

Sheena Tattum Superintendent Western 
Division

Blackpool Coastal Housing

Stephen Dunstan Director of Resources

Cafcass

Jackie Couldridge Service Manager

NSPCC

Amanda Quirke Service Manager

Cumbria and Lancashire Community 
Rehabilitation Company

Elaine Seed Deputy Director

National Probation Service 

Sonia Turner Head of North West Lancashire

Third Sector representative

Faye Atherton Blackpool Carers Centre

Page 89



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 38

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 B
o

a
rd

L
in

ks
 t

o
 o

th
e

r 
B

o
a

rd
s

H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 W

el
lb

ei
ng

 B
oa

rd

C
om

m
un

ity
 S

af
et

y 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip

L
in

ks
 t

o
 o

th
e

r 
G

ro
u

p
s

D
om

es
tic

 A
b

us
e 

su
b

gr
ou

p

P
re

ve
nt

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 B
oa

rd

C
hi

ld
 D

ea
th

 
O

ve
rv

ie
w

 P
an

el
 

(C
D

O
P

)

C
hi

ld
 S

ex
ua

l 
E

xp
lo

ita
tio

n 
S

ub
gr

ou
p

 (C
S

E
)

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 
C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 

S
ub

gr
ou

p 
 

(jo
in

t 
w

ith
 B

S
A

B
)

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

an
d 

E
va

lu
at

io
n 

G
ro

up
 

(P
M

E
G

)

M
ul

ti-
A

ge
nc

y 
A

ud
it 

G
ro

up
 (M

A
A

G
)

B
u

si
n

e
ss

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

G
ro

u
p

 
(jo

in
t 

gr
ou

p
 w

ith
 B

S
A

B
)

B
S

C
B

 S
tr

u
c

tu
re

 C
h

a
rt

AP
PE

N
DI

X 
B

Page 90



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 39

Glossary of acronyms

ACE Adverse Childhood Experiences

BCH Blackpool Coastal Housing

BMG Business Management Group

BSAB Blackpool Safeguarding Adults Board

BSCB Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board

BTH Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

CAFA Child and Family Assessment

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service

CASHER Child and Adolescent Support and Help Enhanced Response service

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CDOP Child Death Overview Panel

CIN Child in Need

CLCRC Cumbria and Lancashire Community Rehabilitation Company

CMET Child Missing, Exploited and Trafficked (meeting) 

CON Continuum of Need

CPP Child Protection Plan

CSAP Children’s Safeguarding Assurance Partnership

CSC Children’s Social Care

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation

DA Domestic Abuse

FTE Full Time Equivalent

GCP2 Graded Care Profile 2 

HMICFRS Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 

ICPC Initial Child Protection Conference

LADO Local Authority Designated Officer

LCFT Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust

LIF Learning and Improvement Framework 

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board

MAAG Multi-Agency Audit Group

Page 91



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 40

MALP Multi-Agency Learning Panel

MARAC Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference

MASH Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub

MFH Missing From Home

MPDF Multi-Professional Discussion Forum

QAPM Quality Assurance and Performance Management

SCR Serious Case Review

SUDC Sudden Unexpected Deaths in Childhood

VMET Vulnerable, Missing, Exploited and Trafficked (subgroup)

YOT Youth Offending Team

YPEG Young People’s Engagement Group

C952   9-19

Page 92



 

Report to: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 

Date of Meeting:  10 October 2019 

 

SCRUTINY WORKPLAN 
 
1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 The Committee to consider the workplan and to monitor the implementation of 
Committee recommendations, together with any suggestions that members may 
wish to make for scrutiny review topics. 
 

1.2 To provide an update on the scrutiny review of Inclusion in Education. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 
2.3 
 

To approve the Committee workplan, taking into account any suggestions for 
amendment or addition. 
 
To monitor the implementation of the Committee’s recommendations/action. 
 
To agree the scope for the Inclusion in Education scrutiny review. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To ensure that recommendations/actions are being monitored, the workplan is up to 
date and is an accurate representation of the Committee’s work. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

N/A 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 11



4.1 Communities – Young People, Safeguarding and Resilience 

 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
5.1.1 
 
 
 
5.1.2 

Scrutiny Workplan 
 
The Scrutiny Committee Workplan is attached at Appendix 11(a). The workplan is a 
flexible document that sets out the work that the Committee will undertake over the 
course of the year.  
 
Committee members are invited, either now or in the future, to suggest topics that 
might be suitable for scrutiny in order that they be added to the Workplan. 
 

5.2 
 
5.2.1 
 
 
 
5.2.2 
 
 

Monitoring Implementation of Recommendations  
 
The table attached at Appendix 11(b) has been developed to assist the Committee in 
effectively ensuring that the recommendations made by the Committee are acted 
upon. The table will be regularly updated and submitted to each Committee meeting.  
 
Members are requested to consider the updates provided in the table and ask follow 
up questions as appropriate to ensure that all recommendations are implemented. 

5.3 Inclusion in Education Scrutiny Review 
 

5.3.3 At its Workplanning Workshop on 25 June 2019 the Committee agreed to add the 
topic of Inclusion in Education to its workplan. As a result Committee members were 
invited to join a working group to undertake a scrutiny review of the issue. 
 

5.3.4 The first meeting of the working group was held on Tuesday 1 October 2019 and 
included the following members: 
 

 Councillor Collett 

 Councillor Farrell 

 Councillor Mitchell 

 Councillor Wing 
 
In addition, the meeting was attended by: 
 

 Mr Paul Turner – Head of School Standards, Safeguarding and Inclusion 

 Mr Philip Thompson – Head of Special Educational Needs 
 

 At the meeting, the working group agreed the detailed scope for the scrutiny review. 
Attached at Appendix 11(c) is the scoping document for consideration by the 

Page 94



Committee. 
 

 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.7 List of Appendices: 
 

 

 Appendix 11(a) – Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee 
Workplan 
Appendix 11(b) – Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee 
Action Tracker 
Appendix 11(c) – Inclusion in Education Scoping Document 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None. 

 
7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 
7.1 
 

None. 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

None. 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None. 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None. 
 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None. 
 

 

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



  APPENDIX 11(a) 

Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee - Work Plan 2019-2020 

10 

October 

2019 

1.  Youth Offending Team Improvement - To receive an update in relation to key 
performance indicators and any risk areas identified. 

2. Children’s Social Care Improvement – To receive an update in relation to key performance 
indicators and any risk areas identified. 

3. Education/SEND – To receive an overview of results data. 
4. BSCB Final Annual Report – To receive the final annual update from the BSCB. 
5. Scrutiny Review of Inclusion in Education – To receive an update on the Scrutiny work 

undertaken. 
 

5 

December 

2019 

1. Youth Offending Team Improvement - To receive an update in relation to key performance 
indicators and any risk areas identified. 
2. Children’s Social Care Improvement – To receive an update in relation to key performance 
indicators and any risk areas identified. 
3. Education/SEND – To receive an overview of results data. 
4. Corporate Parent Panel – To receive the annual report from the CPP. 

 

13 

February 

2020 

1. Youth Offending Team Improvement - To receive an update in relation to key performance 
indicators and any risk areas identified. 
2. Children’s Social Care Improvement – To receive an update in relation to key performance 
indicators and any risk areas identified. 
3. Education/SEND – To receive a full report of confirmed results data. 
4. Pan-Lancashire Partnership – To receive an update on the new safeguarding partnership 
arrangements. 
 

23 April 

2020 

1. Youth Offending Team Improvement - To receive an update in relation to key performance 

indicators and any risk areas identified. 

2. Children’s Social Care Improvement – To receive an update in relation to key performance 

indicators and any risk areas identified. 

3. Education/SEND – To receive an overview of results data. 

4. Headstart Annual Update – To receive an annual update on Headstart. 
 

 

Scrutiny Review Work  
 

October 2019 Scrutiny review of Inclusion in Education to include issues faced by parents of 
children requiring an in-year school place, schools’ admissions procedures to ensure 
pupils are offered a suitable place in a timely manner and the associated impact on 
the number of children being placed within the Pupil Referral Unit. 
 

TBC Scrutiny review of Partnership Arrangements focusing on monitoring the outcomes of 
the new partnership arrangements implemented in September 2019, with an 
emphasis on Early Help provision. 
 

TBC Proposed joint piece of work with Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee: 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health to include prevalence, performance of CAMHS, 
emotional health, looked after children and additional educational needs. 
 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 11(b) 

MONITORING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION TARGET 
DATE 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

1 29.06.17 To request that a precis of 
school Ofsted reports be sent 
to Members outside of 
Committee meetings. 

Ongoing Director of 
Children’s Services 

Recommendation amended following Committee 
meeting December 2017. First document received. 

Green 

2 12.04.18 To receive the Placement 
Sufficiency Strategy in late 
2018. 

November 
2018 

Director of 
Children’s Services 

Consideration of the Placement Sufficiency 
Strategy has been included on the workplan for 
November 2018. 
 
Update: Mrs Booth, Director of Children’s Services 
has advised that the Strategy is not yet completed 
and that it will be circulated to Members of the 
Committee as soon as possible. 

Red 

3 13.09.18 That a future piece of work be 
carried out on the dangers 
present in Blackpool to 
children and young people. 

2019 Tbc Colleagues at the Police have been contacted to 
assist with the work, no response received to date. 

Not yet 
due 

5 13.09.18 That Mrs Booth be requested 
to report on partners who did 
not engage. 

N/A Director of 
Children’s Services 

Members are requested to consider how to 
implement and monitor this recommendation. 

N/A 

6 13.09.18 To receive an update 
performance report on 
HeadStart in 12 months. 

September 
2019 

Programme 
Leader, HeadStart 

Added to workplan. April 2020 

7 20.06.19 To receive key performance 
data in relation to A Better 
Start.  

November 
2019 

Merle Davies, 
Director, Blackpool 
Centre for Early 
Child Development 

Ms Davies confirmed that the first full set of key 
performance indicators would be available for 
consideration by the A Better Start Executive 
Board in October 2019. Ms Davies has agreed to 
provide the report for circulation to Members after 
the information has been through the appropriate 
governance channels. 

Not yet 
due 

 

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 11(c) 

   Page 1 of 2 

Scrutiny Review Scope 
Proposed Title Scoping Date 

Inclusion of Pupils in Secondary Education 

 
1 October 2019 
 

Criteria and reasons for selecting topic 

After consideration of schools admissions data and the identification of high numbers of Blackpool pupils out of 
education for extended periods of time, the Committee identified inclusion as an area of concern and added it to 
the workplan as an area requiring a detailed scrutiny review. 
 

Which priority within the Council Plan does this topic address? 

Communities – Young People, Safeguarding and Resilience 
 

What are the main objectives of the scrutiny? 

To review the implementation of admissions procedures within secondary schools to ensure Blackpool schools are 
adequately adhering to the agreed policies. 
 
To ascertain whether parents of children applying for in-year school places are adequately and appropriately 
communicated with to ensure the best possible outcome for the pupil. 
 
To identify blockages in the admission process which cause delays to the placement of pupils within mainstream 
schools. 
 

What possible outcomes are envisaged in terms of service improvements / benefits to the community? 

Improved compliance and cooperation from schools in the implementation of their admissions policies. 
 
The possibility of a Blackpool Schools Pledge with the joint aim of providing timely and appropriate school places 
for all Blackpool pupils. 
 
Reduction of delays for pupils awaiting placement in a mainstream school and a reduced reliance on the use of the 
Pupil Referral Unit. 
 

How will the public be involved? (consider invitations / press releases for meetings, consultation with 
community groups / clubs, etc) 

Proposed consultation with parents and pupils who have been directly involved in the admissions and appeals 
process; consultation with the School Improvement Board. 
 

How will the scrutiny achieve value for money for the Council / Council Tax payers? 

Reduction of over-reliance on the Pupil Referral Unit would lessen the high costs associated with placing pupils out 
of mainstream schools. 
 

What primary / new evidence is needed for the scrutiny? 

Admissions data including numbers of pupils awaiting placement and average waiting times; school data to include 
numbers of places and historical reasons for not admitting pupils; previous initiatives implemented by the School 
Improvement Board and any measurable outcomes; Pupil Referral Unit admissions data and financial implications; 
clarification of the exclusions and appeals process. 
 

What secondary / existing information will be needed? (include background information / existing reports 
(consider Internal Audit) / legislation / central government information and reports, etc. 

Blackpool Council’s Inclusion Strategy; review of related previous Scrutiny data; schools’ agreed admissions, 
exclusions and appeals policies. 
 

Which Council officers / departments will provide information, advice and assistance for the scrutiny? 

Paul Turner, Head of Service for School Standards Safeguarding & Inclusion 

Page 101



APPENDIX 11(c) 

   Page 2 of 2 

Phil Thompson, Head of Service for SEND 
Ged McNally, Education Inclusion Officer 
Diane Booth, Director of Children’s Services 
Paul Bainbridge, Schools Organisation and Admissions Manager 
Polly Summerlee, Education Access Officer 
Wendy Casson, Headteacher of the Pupil Referral Unit (Education Diversity) 
Councillor Kath Benson, Cabinet Member for Schools, Education and Aspiration 
 

What expert witnesses will the panel request input from outside of the Council? 

Chair of the School Improvement Board 
School Governing bodies 
 

What type of meetings (e.g. fact finding, evidence gathering, consultations, questioning, site visits), and how 
many in number are envisaged for the scrutiny? 

Two meetings are proposed. One of fact finding, evidence gathering, analysis of the data presented. The second to 
consider the response from the consultations and identify conclusions and recommendations from the review. 
 

Timescales / likely duration of enquiry 

Commencing October 2019. 
 

Lead Scrutiny Officer 

Elaine Ireland 
 

Scrutiny Panel Members 

Cllr David Collett 
Cllr Jo Farrell 
Cllr Martin Mitchell 
Cllr John Wing 
 

 

Page 102


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 20 JUNE 2019
	4 APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBER
	5 EXECUTIVE AND CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS
	Executive Decisions Appendix

	6 FORWARD PLAN
	Forward Plan - Appendix 6a

	7 CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE IMPROVEMENT
	Appendix 7(a) Monitoring visit of Blackpool Children

	8 YOUTH OFFENDING TEAM IMPROVEMENT
	9 SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND EDUCATION RESULTS UPDATE
	10 BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD - FINAL ANNUAL REPORT
	BSCB Annual Report

	11 COMMITTEE WORKPLAN
	Appendix 11(a) Children and Young People Work Plan 2019-2020
	Appendix 11(b) Recommendation Monitoring
	Appendix 11(c) Scoping Document October 2019




